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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)
Xl QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009
Or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-26727

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.

(Exact name of registrant issuer as specified indtcharter)

Delaware 68-039782C
(State of other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
105 Digital Drive, Novato, California 94949
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number: (415) 506-6700

(Former name, former address and former fiscal yearif changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdiilésuch reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past@@s. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lsnstted electronically and posted on its corpovedbsite, if any, every interactive data
file required to be submitted and posted pursuafule 405 of the Regulation S-T (8232.405 of tfiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YEk No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlearge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportir@mpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act.
Large accelerated fil¢ Accelerated filei O
Non-accelerated file [0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgle Act.) Yes[O No

Applicable only to issuers involved in bankruptcy poceedings during the preceding five years:
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant Had &ll documents and reports required to be filgGections 12, 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent toigtgliition of securities under a plan confirmedabgourt. Yes[ No O

Applicable only to corporate issuers:
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of e&tedssuer’s classes of common stock, as ofdtest practicable date: 100,729,518 shares
of common stock, par value $0.001, outstandingf &ctober 23, 2009.
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Iltem 1.

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Consolidated Financial Statements

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except for share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, n
Inventory
Other current asse

Total current asse
Investment in BioMarin/Genzyme LL
Long-term investment
Property, plant and equipment, |
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and otherenirliabilities
Acquisition obligation, net of discou
Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities

Convertible deb
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholder equity:

1)

Common stock, $0.001 par value: 250,000,000 steartmrized at December 31, 2008 and
September 30, 2009; 99,868,145 and 100,723,64@smued and outstanding at December 31,

2008 and September 30, 2009, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Company common stock held by deferred compensatar
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li
Accumulated defici
Total stockholdel' equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

December 31, 2008 balances were derived from thgegliconsolidated financial statemer

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidataddial statements.

3

December 31 September 3C
2008 (1) 2009
(unaudited)
$ 222,90( $ 191,77¢
336,89:. 171,56¢
54,29¢ 68,37¢
73,16: 75,44.
50,44 13,10«
737,69¢ 520,26°
91t 522
1,63 128,43!
124,97¢ 182,09¢
7,62¢ 4,19¢
21,26: 21,26:
12,58 12,57¢
$ 906,69! $ 869,35
$ 59,03 $ 63,92
70,74 —
307 14¢
130,08: 64,07(
497,08: 497,08!
2,85¢ 4,351
630,02( 565,50
10C 101
852,94 887,96¢
(882) (1,715
1,10¢ (704)
(576,596 (581,79Y)
276,67! 303,85:
$ 906,69! $ 869,35
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30088 and 2009
(In thousands, except for per share data, unaudited

Revenues
Net product revenue
Collaborative agreement revent
Royalty and license revenu
Total revenue
Operating expense
Cost of sale:
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati
Amortization of acquired intangible ass
Total operating expens
Income from operatior
Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Impairment loss on equity investme
Net gain from sale of investmer
Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income taxe

Net income (loss
Net income (loss) per share, ba
Net income (loss) per share, dilut

Weighted average common shares outstanding,
Weighted average common shares outstanding, di

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2008 2009 2008 2009
$67,81: $ 78,38: $18589! $231,76¢
2,41¢ 64¢€ 7,38¢ 2,02t
2,42( 1,77¢ 3,93: 3,78(
72,64¢ 80,807 197,21 237,57
14,06: 14,97( 40,84+ 49,18(
26,17t 26,99: 67,55¢ 87,67:
28,96+ 28,661 77,83¢ 87,76:
1,09: 46 3,27¢ 2,914
70,29¢ 70,67: 189,51 227,52
2,351 10,13: 7,70( 10,04¢
(572) (680 (1,699 (1,779
3,407 1,017 13,15" 4,051
(4,105 (2,880 (12,297 (11,379
— — — (5,845

— — — 1,58¢
1,081 7,58¢ 6,86¢ (3,315)
252 94t 542 1,88¢
$ 82¢ $ 664 $ 632 $ (5199
$ 001 $ 007 $ 006 $ (0.05
$ 001 $ 006 $ 006 $ (0.09
99,537 100,33: 98,70 100,09
103,40.  101,90¢  103,91( 100,18

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidataddial statements.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008 and @9
(In thousands, unaudited)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2008 2009
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss $ 6,328 $ (5199
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to r@eshcprovided by (used in) operating activiti
Depreciation and amortizatic 12,87 16,11«
Amortization of discount (premium) on investme (5,469 48¢
Imputed interest on acquisition obligati 3,29¢ 2,571
Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL 1,692 1,77:
Stocl-based compensatic 20,10¢ 26,64¢
Impairment loss on equity investme — 5,84¢
Net gain from sale of investmer — (1,585
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss on forwamatracts (409) 4,32
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerci (165) (137
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n (34,159 (14,080
Advances to BioMarin/Genzyme LL 1,86t 19
Inventory (8,869 (2,279
Other current asse (5,810 33,751
Other asset (2,286 (1,987
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 1,112 62C
Other liabilities 1,28¢ 1,50¢
Deferred revenu (3,889 (15¢)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (12,489 68,26¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipm (44,445 (67,180)
Maturities and sales of investmel 600,25 373,06:
Purchase of investmer (531,400 (332,409
Investments in BioMarin/Genzyme LL (600) (2,380
Distributions from BioMarin/Genzyme LL! 16,68: —
Investment in Summit Corporation (5,689 —
Investment in La Jolla Pharmaceutical Comp — (6,250
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 34,80: (34,159
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan andiss@f stock option 25,39¢ 8,371
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerci 165 131
Repayment of acquisition obligatit (5,000 (73,600
Repayment of capital lease obligatic — (13€)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 20,56( (65,239
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 42,874 (31,127
Cash and cash equivaler
Beginning of perioc 228,34: 222,90!
End of perioc $271,21° $191,77¢
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid for intere: $ 735 $ 7,358
Cash paid for income tax 24¢ 1,06¢
Stocl-based compensation capitalized into inven 3,317 4,09¢
Depreciation capitalized into inventc 2,06¢ 3,25¢
Supplemental non-cash investing and financing actities disclosures:
Conversion of convertible not $ 135§ —
Distribution of inventory resulting from the joimenture restructur 26,78( —
Changes in accrued liabilities related to fixecets (2,877 1,461
Equipment acquired through capital le 45€

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidataddial statements.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2009
(Unaudited)

(1) NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS RISKS

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. (the Company or BioMar) develops and commercializes innovative bioptareuticals for serious
diseases and medical conditions. BioMarin selemdyxct candidates for diseases and conditiongéipaesent a significant unmet medical
need, have well-understood biology and provide gwodunity to be first-to-market or offer a sigedint benefit over existing products. The
Company’s product portfolio is comprised of thrgp@ved products and multiple investigational pidiandidates. Approved products
include Naglazymeé (galsulfase), Kuvan (saproptéifitydrochloride), and Aldurazynfe (laronidase).

Through September 30, 2009, the Company had aceteaulosses of approximately $581.8 million. Mamagst believes that the
Company’s cash, cash equivalents, and short-tethiceny-term investments at September 30, 2009b&ikufficient to meet the Company’s
obligations for the foreseeable future based onagament’s current long-term business plans andrdsguhat the Company achieves its
long-term goals. If the Company elects to incratssspending on development programs significaaligve current long-term plans or enter
into potential licenses and other acquisitionsahplementary technologies, products or companiesCompany may need additional cap
The Company expects to continue to finance netéutash needs that exceed its operating revenimearpy through its current cash, cash
equivalents, short-term and long-term investmaeanisg, to the extent necessary, through proceedsdrprity or debt financings, loans and
collaborative agreements with corporate partners.

The Company is subject to a number of risks, iridgdhe financial performance of Naglazyme, Kuvamg Aldurazyme; the potential
need for additional financings; its ability to sessfully commercialize its product candidatespifraved; the uncertainty of the Company’s
research and development efforts resulting in ssfaecommercial products; obtaining regulatoryrappl for such products; significant
competition from larger organizations; reliancetioa proprietary technology of others; dependenckeyrpersonnel; uncertain patent
protection; dependence on corporate partners dfabooators; and possible restrictions on reimbunesat, as well as other changes in the
health care industry.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Presentation

These unaudited consolidated financial statemewtade the accounts of BioMarin and its wholly owrseibsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminatedsd heaudited consolidated financial statements bhaga prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the. (USS. GAAP) for interim financial information artde Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) requirements for interim reportidigwever, they do not include all of the infornoatiand footnotes required by U.S.
GAAP for complete financial statements. In the aminof management, all adjustments, consistingoofrial recurring adjustments,
considered necessary for a fair presentation haga mcluded. Management performed an evaluatitheo€Company’s activities through the
filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, anasiconcluded that there are no subsequent evepising disclosure through that date
except for the transaction discussed in Note 15.

Operating results for the three and nine monthee@®kptember 30, 2009 are not necessarily indecafithe results that may be
expected for the year ending December 31, 2009iffbemation included in this Quarterly Report oorfa 10-Q should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetseand accompanying notes included in the Comgatwghual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make juelgt®, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etassd liabilities, disclosure of contingent assetd liabilities at the dates of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenaesx@enses during the reporting period. Actuallteswuld differ from those estimates.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company treats liquid investments with origimaiturities of less than three months when purahasecash and cash equivale



(d) Investments

The Company determines the appropriate classificadf its investments in debt and equity securiiethe time of purchase and
reevaluates such designation at each balance ddieetAll of the Company’s securities are clasdiis either held-to-maturity or available-
for-sale and reported in cash equivalents, shom-tevestments or long-term investments. Held-tdurity investments are recorded at
amortized cost. Available-for-sale investmentsramorded at fair market value, with unrealized gainlosses included in accumulated other
comprehensive income/loss, exclusive of other-tiegmmporary impairment losses, if any. Short-term langd-term investments are comprised
of corporate securities, commercial paper, U.Seff@dyovernment agency securities, U.S. treaslig; bioney market funds, equity securii
and certificates of deposit. As of September 30926he Company had no held-to-maturity investments

6
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
September 30, 2009
(Unaudited)

(e) Inventory

The Company values inventories at the lower of oosiet realizable value. The Company determinestist of inventory using the
average-cost method. The Company analyzes its tomelevels quarterly and writes down inventorytthas become obsolete, or has a cost
basis in excess of its expected net realizableevaihd inventory quantities in excess of expectgdirements. Expired inventory is disposed
of and the related costs are recognized as castle$ on the consolidated statements of operations.

Manufacturing costs for product candidates are es@é as research and development expenses. Thea@piqmsiders regulatory
approval of product candidates to be uncertain,panduct manufactured prior to regulatory apprawal not be sold unless regulatory
approval is obtained. As such, the manufacturirgisctor product candidates incurred prior to reguiaapproval are not capitalized as
inventory. When regulatory approval is obtaine@, @ompany begins capitalizing inventory at the lowfecost or net realizable value.

In the first quarter of 2008, the Company recei$26.8 million of inventory distributed by the Commyas joint venture with Genzyme
Corporation (Genzyme) pursuant to the terms ofdhn venture restructuring (see Note 4 for furthdormation). The inventory distribution
was recorded at the historical production costcvinepresented the lower of cost or market value.

Stock-based compensation capitalized into inverfimryhe three and nine months ended Septemb&08® was $1.4 million and $4.1
million respectively, compared to $1.3 million &8l.3 million for the three and nine months endegt&aber 31, 2008, respectively.

(f) Investment in BioMarin/Genzyme LLC and Equity in the Loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company restructitsegtlationship with Genzyme (see Note 4 forHfartinformation). The Company
accounts for its remaining investment in the jei@mture using the equity method. Accordingly, tlwrpany records an increase in its
investment for contributions to the joint venturaldor its 50% share of the loss of the joint veatand a reduction in its investment for its
50% share of any losses of the joint venture drudisements of profits from the joint venture. Egurit the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
includes the Company’s 50% share of the joint vexisuoss for the period. The investment in BioM#&Benzyme LLC includes the
Company’s share of the net equity of the joint veat

(9) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagird2iation is computed using the strailji-method over the related estimated us
lives, except for leasehold improvements, whichdepreciated over the shorter of the useful lifehefasset or the lease term. Significant
additions and improvements are capitalized, wigfgirs and maintenance are charged to expenseuaeit. Property and equipment
purchased for specific research and developmeijgqisowith no alternative uses are expensed asrggtuSee Note 7 for further information
on property, plant and equipment balances as oé@ber 31, 2008 and September 30, 2009.

Certain of the Company’s operating lease agreeniecitsde scheduled rent escalations over the leasg as well as tenant
improvement allowances. Scheduled increases iresgrense are recognized on a straight-line bagistbe lease term. The difference
between rent expense and rent paid is recordedfasred rent and included in other liabilities lre taccompanying consolidated balance
sheets. The tenant improvement allowances anddregeriods are recognized as a credit to rendéresgoover the lease term on a stralijie-
basis.

(h) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance wiinEial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accougitstandards Codification
(ASC) Subtoptics ASC 605-1Revenue Recognition—Produatsd ASC 605-25Revenue Recognition—Multiple Element Arrangem@aiis.
Company'’s revenues consist of net product revefraes Naglazyme, Kuvan, and Aldurazyme, revenuesifits collaborative agreement
with Merck Serono and other license and royaltyereies. Milestone payments are recognized in fulimthe related milestone performance
goal is achieved and the Company has no futur@pednce obligations related to that paym



Net Product RevenuesThe Company recognizes net product revenue whesugsive evidence of an arrangement exists, thadupto
has been delivered to the customer, title andaidliss have passed to the customer, the prideetbuyer is fixed or determinable and
collection from the customer is reasonably assuUPedduct sales transactions are evidenced by cestounchase orders, customer contracts,
invoices and/or the related shipping documents. émmcollected from customers and remitted to guwental authorities, which are
primarily comprised of value-added taxes relateNaglazyme sales in foreign jurisdictions, are pnésd on a net basis in the Company’s
statements of operations, in that taxes billedusiamers are not included as a component of néuptaevenues.

BioMarin receives a 39.5% to 50% royalty on worldesnet Aldurazyme sales by Genzyme depending es salume, which is
included in net product revenues in the consoliiatatements of operations. The Company recogaipestion of this amount as product
transfer revenue when product is released to Geaagrall of the Company’s performance obligatioesfalfilled at that point and title to,
and risk of loss for, the product has transfere@é&€nzyme. The product transfer revenue reprefiemfixed amount per unit of Aldurazyme
that Genzyme is required to pay the Company ifttegluct is unsold by Genzyme. The amount of prothacisfer revenue will eventually be
deducted from the calculated royalty rate wherptiogluct is sold by Genzyme. The Company recordé\ttierazyme royalty revenue based
on net sales information provided by Genzyme andrds product transfer revenue based on the fuliit of Genzyme purchase orders in
accordance with the terms of the related agreemgttisGenzyme and when the title and risk of lassthe product is transferred to
Genzyme. As of September 30, 2009, accounts rddeivacluded $19.1 million of unbilled accountse®@ble related to net incremental
Aldurazyme product transfers to Genzyme.

The Company sells Naglazyme worldwide and sellsgfun the U.S. and Canada. In the U.S., Naglazymdekaivan are generally sold
to specialty pharmacies or enders, such as hospitals, which act as retailéres Clompany also sells Kuvan to Merck Serono at cest; anc
Merck Serono resells the product to end usersaritbie U.S., Canada and Japan. The royalty earoediuvan product sold by Merck
Serono in the E.U. is included as a component bpragluct revenues in the period earned. OutsidéJtl$., Naglazyme is sold to the
Company’s authorized distributors or directly torgoyment purchasers or hospitals, which act asiideusers. The Company records
reserves for rebates payable under Medicaid aret gthvernment programs as a reduction of reventledime product revenues are
recorded. The Company’s reserve calculations reqstimates, including estimates of customer roixletermine which sales will be subject
to rebates and the amount of such rebates. The &@omypdates its estimates and assumptions eadudparid records any necessary
adjustments to its reserves. The Company recosssffaid to distributors as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records allowances for product retufagpropriate, as a reduction of revenue atitihe product sales are recorded.
Several factors are considered in determining wdredh allowance for product returns is requirediLiding market exclusivity of the produ
based on their orphan drug status, the patientlptpn, the customers’ limited return rights and ompany’s experience with returns.
Because of the pricing of Naglazyme and Kuvanlith#ed number of patients and the customers’ Editeturn rights, most Naglazyme and
Kuvan customers and retailers carry a limited inggn Certain international
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
September 30, 2009
(Unaudited)

customers, usually government entities, tend tahmse larger quantities of product less frequeAithrough such buying patterns may result
in revenue fluctuations from quarter to quartee, @Gompany has not experienced any increased progtuchs or risk of product returns. The
Company’s products are comparable in nature arttitedimilar customers with limited return rightiserefore the Company relies on
historical return rates for Aldurazyme and Naglagym estimate returns for Kuvan, which has a lichiéstory. Genzyme'’s return rights for
Aldurazyme are limited to defective product. Basadhese factors, management has concluded théagroeturns will be minimal, and the
Company has not experienced significant produatnstto date. In the future, if any of these fag@mmd/or the history of product returns
changes, an allowance for product returns may dpeined.

The Company maintains a policy to record allowarioesloubtful accounts for estimated losses rasgylitiom the inability of its
customers to make required payments. As of Septe8ih009, the Company has experienced no signifiobad debts and the recorded
allowance for doubtful accounts was insignificant.

Collaborative agreement revenuesCollaborative agreement revenues from Merck Semoclade both license revenue and contract
research revenue under the Company’s agreemeniMeitbk Serono, which was executed in May 2005. hmdable up-front license fees
where the Company has continuing involvement thhaegearch and development collaboration are liyitieferred and recognized as
collaborative agreement license revenue over ttima&zd period for which the Company continuesdweeha performance obligation. The
Companys performance obligation related to the $25.0 omillipfront payment from Merck Serono ended in theth quarter of 2008. The
was no cost of sales associated with the amouizati the up-front license fee received from Mesekono. Nonrefundable amounts received
for shared development costs are recognized aauevia the period in which the related expensesnargred. Contract research revenue
included in collaborative agreement revenues remtssMerck Serono’s share of Kuvan developmensaastier the Merck Serono
agreement, which are recorded as research andogeveht expenses. Allowable costs during the dewedoyp period must have been inclu
in the pre-approved annual budget in order to Ibgestito reimbursement, or must be separately apprby both parties.

Collaborative agreement revenues during the thndenane months ended September 30, 2009 includgédrllion and $2.0 million of
reimbursable development costs for Kuvan, respelgtiCollaborative agreement revenues for the threknine months ended Septembet
2008 included the recognition of $1.5 million anrd%million, respectively, of the $25.0 million dipnt license fee received from Merck
Serono and $0.9 million and $2.9 million, respedlify of reimbursable development costs for Kuvan.

Royalty and license revenuesRoyalty revenue includes royalties on net salgsrofiucts with which the Company has no direct
involvement and is recognized based on data repbstdicensees or sublicensees. Royalties are ninadj as earned in accordance with the
contract terms when the royalty amount is fixedl@erminable based on information received fromstitdicensee and when collectibility is
reasonably assured.

Due to the significant role the Company plays i ¢iperations of Aldurazyme and Kuvan, primarily thenufacturing and regulatory
activities, as well as the rights and responsiédito deliver the products to Genzyme and Meraki8®g respectively, the Company elected
not to classify the Aldurazyme and Kuvan royalgesned as other royalty revenues and instead ied@t¢hem as a component of net product
revenues.

Royalty and license revenues during the three amlmonths ended September 30, 2009 include $1li®mand $3.2 million,
respectively, of Orapred product royalties, a paidine Company acquired in 2004 and sublicens@®@®, and $0.2 million and $0.6 millic
respectively, of 6R-BH4 royalty revenues for pradsmld in Japan. Royalty and license revenueditiiree and nine months ended
September 30, 2008, included $0.8 million and $&ilBon, respectively, of Orapred product royalti@here is no cost of sales associated
with the royalty and license revenues recordednduttie periods and no related costs are expectediire periods.

(i) Research and Development

Research and development expenses include expessmsated with contract research and developmewided by third parties,
product manufacturing prior to regulatory approetihical and regulatory costs, and internal resle@nd development costs. In instances
where the Company enters into agreements with gartes for research and development activitiestscare expensed upon the earlier of
when non-refundable amounts are due or as ser@iegserformed unless there is an alternative fuiseeof the funds in other research and
development projects. Amounts due under such agrargts may be either fixed fee or fee for senaog, may include upfront payments,
monthly payments, and payments upon the complefionilestones or receipt of deliverables. The Conypaccrues costs for clinical trial
activities based upon estimates of the servicesived and related expenses incurred that haveyst invoiced by the vendors that perform
the activities.

The Company believes that regulatory approvalsopibduct candidates is uncertain, and does nobtasthat products manufactured
prior to regulatory approval will be sold commeligiaAs a result, inventory costs for product catates are expensed as research and
development until regulatory approval is obtained imajor market, at which time inventory is cdpital at the lower of cost or net realiza
value.



()) Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculatedilagling net income/loss by the weighted averagaesh of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income (loss) pearstreflects the potential dilution that would ocifisecurities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into comsbtack; however, potential common equivalent share excluded if their effect is
anti-dilutive. Potential shares of common stocKude shares issuable upon the exercise of outstgraaihnployee stock option awards,
common stock issuable under the Company’s 2006 &epl Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), restricted stookingent issuances of common
stock related to convertible debt and through its¢ duarter of 2009, the portion of acquisitiorstsothat was payable in shares of the
Company’s common stock at the Company’s option.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
September 30, 2009
(Unaudited)

The following represents a reconciliation from lbageighted shares outstanding to diluted weighkedles outstanding and the earnings
per share for the three and nine months ended 18bpte30, 2008 (in thousands, except per share:data)

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2008 September 30, 2008
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Per Share Shares Per Share
Net Income Outstanding Net Income Outstanding
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Basic Earnings Per Shal
Net Income $ 82¢ 99,537 $ 0.01 $ 6,32 98,70¢ $ 0.0¢
Effect of dilutive shares
Stock options using the treasury metl — 3,317 — 4,62¢
Portion of acquisition obligation payable in commc
stock at the option of the Compa — 32t — 32t
Potentially issuable restricted common st — — — 19
Potentially issuable common stock for
ESPP purchast — 19C — 204
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan obligation
using the treasury methc (29) 34 (29 34
Diluted Earnings Per Shar
Net Income $ 80C 103,40 $ 0.01 $ 6,29¢ 103,91t $ 0.0€

In addition to the stock options included in theabtable, options to purchase approximately 3/2amiand 1.7 million shares of
common stock were outstanding during the threenamel months ended September 30, 2008, respectivaiyyere not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share becawsewere anti-dilutive during the period using theasury stock method. These options
were anti-dilutive because the fair value of thempany’s common stock exceeded the assumed profreetishe exercise of the stock
options. Additionally, approximately 26.3 milliohares of common stock underlying the Comparggnvertible debt were not included in
diluted average common shares outstanding bechegevere antidilutive during the three and nine therended September 30, 2008 using
the “if-converted” method whereby the related iatgrexpense on the convertible debt is added tmoeitne for the period.

The following represents a reconciliation from lbageighted shares outstanding to diluted weighkedes outstanding and the earnings
per share for the three and nine months ended f@bpte30, 2009 (in thousands, except per share:data)

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2009 September 30, 2009
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Per Share Shares Per Share
Net Income Outstanding Net Loss Outstanding
(Numerator) (Denominator)  Amount  (Numerator) (Denominator)  Amount
Basic Earnings Per Shal
Net Income (Loss $ 6,64( 100,33: $ 0.07 $ (5,199 100,09¢ $ (0.09)
Effect of dilutive shares
Stock options using the treasury metl — 1,15¢ — —
Potentially issuable common stock for ESPP purah — 293 — —
Potentially issuable restricted common st — 32 — —
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan obligatisinc
the treasury methc (130) 91 (241) 91

Diluted Earnings Per Shar
Net Income $ 6,51( 101,90¢ $ 0.0¢ $ (5,440 100,18¢ $ (0.05)




In addition to the equity instruments includedhe table above, the following potential sharesashimon stock were excluded from the
computation as they were anti-dilutive during theeé and nine month periods ended September 30,u8g the treasury stock method for
stock-based compensation and the if-converted rddtirahe Company’s convertible debt (in thousands)

Three Months Endec Nine Months Endec

September 30, 2009 September 30, 200

Options to purchase common stc 2,33t 14,15¢
Common stock issuable under convertible ¢ 26,34: 26,34
Potentially issuable common stock for ESPP purd — 27¢
Potentially issuable restricted common st 343 37E
Total 29,02: 41,15:

(k) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company uses the Bla8icholes option pricing model to determine thefalue of stock options and employee stock purcpest
awards. The determination of the fair value of ktbased payment awards using an option-pricing nedsfected by the Company’s stock
price as well as assumptions regarding a numbeomplex and subjective variables. Stock-based cosgi®n expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite servicequefor each such award. Further stock-based corafiensexpense recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations is basedvarnda expected to vest, therefore the amount ofresgphas been reduced for estimated
forfeitures which are based on historical expermeiticactual forfeitures differ from estimates lag time of grant they will be revised in
subsequent periods.
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If factors change and different assumptions arel@yeg in determining the fair value of stock baseards, the stock based
compensation expense recorded in future periodsdifi@y significantly from what was recorded in tbarrent period (see Note 3 for further
information).

() Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company’s Nonqualified Deferred Compensati@nRilllows eligible employees, including managenagat certain highly-
compensated employees as designated by the pmigiatrative committee and members of the BoarDicéctors to make voluntary
deferrals of compensation to specified dates,emtimt or death. Participants are permitted to gedetions of their salary, annual cash bonus
and restricted stock. The Company is not allowethade additional direct contributions to the Noriigal Deferred Compensation Plan on
behalf of the participants without further actiontbe Board of Directors.

Other current assets and other non-current agsgtgle $0.9 million and $1.7 million, respectivedf investments held in trust related
to the Company’s Nonqualified Deferred Compensatam for certain employees and directors as oebwer 31, 2008 and September 30,
2009, respectively. All of the investments heldhia Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan arsstfied as trading securities and
recorded at fair value with changes in the investisidair values recognized in earnings in the getthey occur. Restricted stock issued into
the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan is aotad for similarly to treasury stock in that tredue of the employer stock is determined
on the date the restricted stock vests and theslae issued into the Nonqualified Deferred Corsgtion Plan. The restricted stock issued
into the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plarecorded in equity and changes in its fair valgeracognized in earnings as incurred.
Additionally, the Company has recorded a correspanliability for the Nonqualified Deferred Compext®n Plan in other current liabilities
and other long-term liabilities.

(m) Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability metbhbdccounting for income taxes. Under this methtederred taxes are determined
based on the difference between the financial si@té¢ and tax bases of assets and liabilities uaxgates expected to be in effect in the y
in which the differences are expected to reversealation allowance is recorded to reduce defetagassets to the amount that is more
likely than not to be realized. There was a fullradion allowance against net deferred tax as$eb@@®4.7 million at December 31, 2008.
Future taxable income and ongoing prudent andbkatix planning strategies have been consideredsassing the need for the valuation
allowance. An adjustment to the valuation allowawoeild increase or decrease net income/loss ip¢hed such adjustment was made.
During the three and nine months ended Septemh&0B®, the Company recognized income tax expein$@.® million and $1.9 million,
respectively, compared to the three and nine masibed September 30, 2008 when the Company re@mbimzome tax expense of $0.3
million and $0.5 million, respectively. Income teaxpense in the three and nine months ended Sept&dp2008 and 2009 was primarily
related to income earned in certain of the Compaimternational subsidiaries, California state meaax and U.S. Federal Alternative
Minimum Tax expense.

(n) Foreign Currency and Other Hedging I nstruments

The Company has transactions denominated in fo@igrencies and, as a result, is exposed to chandereign currency exchange
rates. The Company manages some of these expasueesonsolidated basis, which results in themgtf certain exposures to take
advantage of natural offsets and through the u$erefgn currency forward contracts. Gains or lesse net foreign currency hedges are
intended to offset losses or gains on the undeaglyigt exposures in an effort to reduce the earrangscash flow volatility resulting from
fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumesteither assets or liabilities on the balancetstued measures them at fair value.
Derivatives that are not defined as hedging instmisiare adjusted to fair value through earningsngsand losses resulting from changes in
fair value are accounted for depending on the @isieeaderivative and whether it is designated amaifies for hedge accounting (see Note 11
for further information).

(o) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company discloses the fair value of financiatiuments for assets and liabilities for whicis ipracticable to estimate that value.
The carrying amounts of all cash equivalents amddod exchange contracts approximate fair valuedapon quoted market prices or
discounted cash flows. The fair value of trade aot®receivables, accounts payable and other fimbinstruments approximates carrying
value due to their short-term nature.

(p) Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated Other Comprehensive | ncome (L 0ss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income#osl certain changes in stockholders’ equityahaexcluded from net income
(loss), such as changes in unrealized gains asddam the Compa’s availabl-for-sale securities, unrealized gains/losses on fol



currency hedges, and changes in the Company’s etiiveiforeign currency translation account. Theezeano tax effects allocated to
any components of other comprehensive income (bgs)g the three and nine months ended Septenth@0®8 and 2009.

During the three months ended September 30, 2@08piehensive net income was approximately $5.8anitompared to
comprehensive net loss of $0.4 million for the éhneonths ended September 30, 2008. During themarehs ended September 30, 2009,
comprehensive net loss was $7.0 million comparembtoprehensive net income of $4.4 million for tiermonths ended September 30,
2008. The fluctuation in accumulated other compnehe& income (loss) is comprised of the followiigthousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2008 2009 2008 2009
Net unrealized gain (loss) on availe-for-sale securitie $ (1,792 $ 57 $ (2,113 $ (265
Net unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency e 1,59: (1,509 1,20( (2,450
Net unrealized gain (loss) on equity investm (2,030 12t (2,030 89¢
Net foreign currency translation gain (lo (12 — (14) 6
Change in accumulated other comprehensive inconss) $ (1,247 $ (80%) $ (1,957) $ (1,810
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(g) Restricted Cash

The Company'’s balance of restricted cash amount&d.8 million and $1.7 million at December 31, 2@hd September 30, 2009,
respectively. The December 31, 2008 balance ind&@e2 million related to cash received for royetearned pursuant to the Orapred
sublicense agreement, which was restricted fromunieJune 2009 when the Company paid the remgiagguisition obligation resulting
from the Ascent Pediatrics transaction to Medisee(Note 14). The $6.2 million was included in otherent assets on the December 31,
2008 consolidated balance sheet. Restricted cashiralludes investments of $0.9 million and $1.Wiom held by the Company’s
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan as of Ddeam31, 2008 and September 30, 2009, respectimbligh is included in other curre
assets and other non-current assets.

(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accounting StatsdUpdate (ASU) 2009-1Blultiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(@sU
2009-13). ASU 2009-13 amends ASC Subtopic 605R&venue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverabtegequire an entity to use an
estimated selling price when vendor specific olijectvidence or acceptable third party evidences s exist for any products or services
included in a multiple element arrangement. Tharagement consideration should be allocated amangriiducts and services based upon
their relative selling prices, thus eliminating thee of the residual method of allocation. ASU 2Q@8%lso requires expanded qualitative and
quantitative disclosures regarding significant juggts made and changes in applying the guidandd. 2089-13 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2010, which for the Comygadanuary 1, 2011, with early application petetit The Company is currently
evaluating the impact ASU 2009-13 will have on @@mpany’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-Bair Value Measurements and Disclosur€ASU 2009-05) which amends Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 82Bair Value Measuremen{&\SC 820). The update addresses practice diffesiitaused by tension between
fair-value measurements based on the price thaldWimipaid to transfer a liability to a new obligord contractual or legal requirements that
prevent such transfers from taking place. ASC 82¢ffiective for interim and annual periods begigrafter August 27, 2009, which for the
Company is October 1, 2009. The Company is cugr@whluating the impact, if any, that ASU 2008will have on its consolidated financ
statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued Statement of FinbAcieounting Standards No.16 Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)
(SFAS No. 167). SFAS No0.167 eliminates FASB Intet@tion No. 46(R)’s exceptions to consolidatingldying special-purpose entities,
contains new criteria for determining the primaenbficiary, and increases the frequency of requigadsessments to determine whether a
company is the primary beneficiary of a variableiast entity. SFAS No. 167 is effective for fisgahrs beginning after November 15, 2009,
which for the Company is January 1, 2010, withieaddoption prohibited. The Company is currenigessing the potential impact, if any,
that SFAS No. 167 will have on its consolidatedfinial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 186¢ounting for Transfers of Financial Assets—an raineent of FASB Statement
No. 140 (SFAS No. 166). SFAS No. 166 eliminates the conoéptqualifying special-purpose entity, createsersiringent conditions for
reporting a transfer of a portion of a financiadetsas a sale, clarifies other sale-accountingr@ijtand changes the initial measurement of a
transferors interest in transferred financial assets. SFAS166 will be effective for transfers of financadsets in fiscal years beginning a
November 15, 2009, which for the Company is Jan@a010, and in interim periods within those flsgears, with earlier adoptic
prohibited. The Company is currently assessingtitential impact, if any, that SFAS No. 166 wilMezon its consolidated financial
statements.

(s) Reclassifications and Adjustments
Certain items in the prior year's consolidated fiicial statements have been reclassified to confortine current presentation.

(3) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans iac¢hel 2006 Share Incentive Plan and the ESPP. Thase are administered by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Dires;tevhich selects persons to receive awards andndieis the number of shares subject
to each award and the terms, conditions, performameasures and other provisions of the award. &z Nof the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the Annual Report on FofKifor the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008¢ckivas filed with the SEC on
February 27, 2009, for additional information rethto these stock-based compensation plans.

Determining the Fair Value of Stock Options and Stock Purchase Rights

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes valuatimdel and the assumptions noted
in the tables below. The expected life of opticnbased on observed historical exercise pattemwsips of employees that have similar
historical exercise patterns were considered stggatfar valuation purposes, but none were ideadifihat had distinctly different exercise
patterns as of September 30, 2009. The expectedilitplof stock options is based upon proportienakeightings of the historical volatility «



the Company’s common stock and the implied votgtdif traded options on the Company’s common sfockiscal periods in which
there is sufficient trading volume in options oe thompany’s common stock. The risk free interestisabased on the implied yield on a
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining exual to the expected term of the option. Théldnd yield reflects that the Company
has not paid any cash dividends since inceptiondaed not intend to pay any cash dividends indheskeable future. During the nine mol
ended September 30, 2009, the Company grantedapately 3.1 million stock options under the 200@&&: Incentive Plan, with a
weighted average fair value of $7.45 per optiore Tompany also granted approximately 372,658 gtackhase rights under the ESPP with
a weighted average fair value of $5.11 per sharimgthe nine months ended September 30, 2009a¥fiemptions used to estimate the per
share fair value of stock options granted and sparkhase rights granted under the Company’s 20@8Sncentive Plan and ESPP for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 20080@0¢dare as follows:
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2008 2009 2008 2009
Stock options:

Weighted average fair value of per share

common stocl $ 27.7¢ $ 15.6¢ $ 37.9¢ $ 14.2¢
Expected life 5.6 year 6.1 year 5.2- 5.6 year 6.0- 6.1 year
Volatility 45% 54% 45- 47% 54%
Risk-free interest rat 3.1% 2.5% 2.8-3.2% 1.9-2.5%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%

Three and Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2008 2009
ESPP:

Weighted average share fair market value of comstock $ 37.61 $ 13.6¢
Expected life 6 - 24 month 6 - 24 month
Volatility 47% 55%
Risk-free interest rat 1.7-2.4% 0.3-0.9%
Dividend yield 0% 0%

Stock Option Grantsto Non-Employees

During the third quarter of 2009, the Company gedri4,000 stock options to non-employees. The mapleyee grants vest over
periods of nine months up to two years. The undegtetion of the stock options will be re-measuage@ach reporting period. Total stock-

based compensation expense for pomployee stock option grants for the three and minaths ended September 30, 2009 was approxin
$80,000.

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units (RSUs) are generally suligetdrfeiture if employment terminates prior teetrelease of vesting restrictions. The
Company expenses the cost of the RSUs, which ésmdated to be the fair market value of the shafemmmon stock underlying the RSU at
the date of grant, ratably over the period durirmclv the vesting restrictions lapse. During theemimonths ended September 30, 2009, the
Company granted 197,295 RSUs with a weighted aedi@igmarket value of $14.04 per share.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The compensation expense that has been included i@ompany’s consolidated statement of operafemstock-based compensation
arrangements were as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2008 2009 2008 2009
Cost of sale: $ 43C $ 1,192 $ 101¢ $ 3,17¢
Research and development expe 2,501 3,40¢ 6,11¢ 8,48¢
Selling, general and administrative expe 4,46¢ 4,321 10,674 14,06¢
Total stocl-based compensation expe! $ 7,39¢ $ 8921 $ 1781 $ 2573:

There was no material income tax benefit associatédstock-based compensation in the first thneartprs of 2008 and 2009 because
the deferred tax asset resulting from stock-basetpensation was offset by an additional valuatitoweance for deferred tax assets.

Stock-based compensation of $3.3 million and $4lllom was capitalized into inventory for the nineonths ended September 30, 2008
and 2009, respectively. Capitalized sl-based compensation is recognized into cost of sdles the related product is sc



(4) JOINT VENTURE

Effective January 2008, the Company and Genzymeumsred BioMarin/Genzyme LLC. Under the revisédicture, the operational
responsibilities for BioMarin and Genzyme did niginificantly change, as Genzyme continues to glgbabrket and sell Aldurazyme and
BioMarin continues to manufacture Aldurazyme. Téstructuring had two significant business purpoBist, since each party now has full
control over its own operational responsibilitieghout the need to obtain the approval of the pgaty, and the parties do not need to
review and oversee the activities of the othaedces management’s time and effort and theréfgueoves overall efficiencies. Second,
since each party will realize 100% of the bendfitheir own increased operational efficienciesndreases the incentives to identify and
implement cost saving measures. Under the prea0I80 structure, each company shared 50% of thermepassociated with the other’s
inefficiencies and only received 50% of the benefitts own efficiencies. Specifically, the Compamil be able to realize the full benefit of
any manufacturing cost reductions and Genzymebgilible to realize the full benefit of any saled ararketing efficiencies.

On January 1, 2008, Genzyme began to record sbfddurazyme to third party customers and pay BioiMa tiered payment ranging
from approximately 39.5% to 50% of worldwide nebghuct sales depending on sales volume, which @ded by BioMarin as product
revenue. The Company recognizes a portion of thisuat as product transfer revenue when produeiéased to Genzyme as all of the
Company’s performance obligations are fulfilledhas point and title to, and risk of loss, for fh@duct has transferred to Genzyme. The
product transfer revenue represents the fixed atqmemunit of Aldurazyme that Genzyme is required t
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pay the Company if the product is unsold by Genzyhle amount of product transfer revenue is deduftten the calculated royalty rate
when the product is sold by Genzyme. Genzyme'smeights for Aldurazyme are limited to defectiveguct. Certain research and
development activities and intellectual propertated to Aldurazyme continues to be managed idim¢ venture with the costs shared
equally by BioMarin and Genzyme. Pursuant to theaseof the joint venture restructuring, the Compeegeived distributions of $16.7
million of cash and $26.8 million of inventory frotine joint venture in the first quarter of 2008.

As a result of restructuring the joint venture, @@mpany made an initial transfer of inventory @amthto Genzyme, resulting in the
recognition of product transfer revenue of $14.0iom during the first quarter of 2008. A portioffithat initial inventory transfer representing
$4.5 million of the related product transfer revemvas also sold by Genzyme during the first quaft@008, which resulted in a royalty due
to the Company totaling $14.6 million.

The Company presents the related cost of salegsaAtiurazyme-related operating expenses as dpgrakpenses in the consolidated
statements of operations. Equity in the loss oMBidn/Genzyme LLC subsequent to the restructuniaduides BioMarin’'s 50% share of the
net income/loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC relatedrtizllectual property management and ongoing reseand development activities.

(5) SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

At December 31, 2008, the principal amounts of stesm and long-term investments by contractualumitgtare summarized in the
table below (in thousands):

Contractual Maturity

For the Year Ending

December 31, 2009 Unrealized December 31, 2008

Total Book Value Gain (Loss] Aggregate Fair Value

Corporate securitie $ 55,27( $ (100 $ 55,17(
Commercial pape 33,07¢ 48 33,124
Equity securitie: 3,63: 332 3,96¢
U.S. Government agency securit 220,91- 977 221,89:
U.S. Government backed commercial pe 24,37( 5 24,37t
Total $ 337,26: $ 1,262 $ 338,52!

At September 30, 2009, the principal amounts oftstesm and long-term investments by contractuatumiy are summarized in the
table below (in thousands):

Contractual Maturity
Date For the Years Ending
December 31, September 30, 2009
Aggregate Fair

Total Book Unrealized

2009 2010 2011 Value Gain (Loss] Value
Certificates of depos $ 383 $ 26,19¢ $ 7,95 $ 37,99 $ (v7) $ 37,91
Corporate securitie — 71,89« 46,091 117,98! 46¢ 118,45:
Commercial pape 9,981 7,96t — 17,95: 15 17,961
Equity securitie: 701 — — 701 1,23(C 1,931
U.S. Government agency securit 84,15 14,74( 24,60( 123,49: 23¢ 123,73.
Total $ 98,67¢ $ 120,79¢ $ 78,64¢ $ 298,12¢ $ 1,87 $ 300,00

The Company completed an evaluation of its investmand determined that it did not have any othantemporary impairments as
September 30, 2009. The investments are placedandial institutions with strong credit ratingsdamanagement expects full recovery of
amortized costs.

At December 31, 2008, the aggregate amount of lineddosses and related fair value of investmaeuitis unrealized losses are
presented in the table below (in thousands). Alégiments were classified as avail-for-sale at December 31, 20(



Corporate securitie

Commercial pape

U.S. Government agency securit

U.S. Government back commercial pa
Total

Less Than 12 Months To

Maturity
Aggregate Fail Unrealized
Value Losses
$ 44,94 $ (147
1,992 (6)
6,92¢ (12)
9,947 (31)
$  63,80¢ $ (196

Total

Aggregate Fail Unrealized
Value Losses
$ 44,94 $ (147
1,99: (6)
6,92¢ (12)
9,947 (31)

$  63,80¢ $ (196

At September 30, 2009, the aggregate amounts ealined losses and related fair value of investmeith unrealized losses were as
follows (in thousands). All investments were cléisdias available-for-sale at September 30, 2009.

Less Than 12 Months To

12 Months or More To

Maturity Maturity Total
Unrealized Aggregate  Unrealized Aggregate  Unrealized
Aggregate

Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Certificates of depos $ 11,18 $ (31) $14,75. $ (B4 $2593! $ (89
Corporate securitie 10,91¢ (10 13,21« (31 24,13 (472)
U.S. Government agency securit 4,574 (1) — — 4,574 D)
Total $ 2667 $ (42 $27,96¢ $ (85 $54,64( $ (127)
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(6) SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

As of December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2008niowy consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 September 3C

2008 2009
Raw material $ 10,31« $ 10,39
Work in proces: 29,99¢ 40,45:
Finished good 32,85( 24,59¢
Total inventory $ 73,16 $ 75,44

As of December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2008y othrent assets consisted of the following (ouands):

December 31 September 3C
2008 2009

Kuvan European Medicines Agency (EMEA) approvalestibne receivak $ 30,00( $ =
Non-trade receivable 4,82¢ 6,31¢
Prepaid expenst 3,01z 3,88¢
Deferred cost of goods sc 3,87¢ 2,61¢
Shor-term restricted cas 6,20z 97
Other 2,522 18¢
Total other current asse $ 50,44« $ 13,10¢

As of December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2008pats payable and accrued liabilities consistetth®following (in thousands):

December 31 September 3C
2008 2009

Accounts payabl $ 927 $ 2,07¢
Accrued accounts payak 26,21« 29,56:
Accrued vacatiol 3,79¢ 4,60¢
Accrued compensatic 11,731 12,19¢
Accrued interest and tax 2,68¢ 4,03(
Accrued royaltie: 3,401 4,34z
Other accrued expens 6,09/ 1,43(C
Accrued rebate 3,19¢ 4,881
Other 98¢ 792
Total accounts payable and accrued liabili $ 59,03 $ 63,92

As of December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2008y tithg-term liabilities consisted of the followifig thousands):

December 31 September 3C

2008 2009
Long-term portion of deferred re| $ 1,17¢€ $ 1,05:
Long-term portion of capital lease liabili 27C 13z
Long-term portion of foreign currency forward contradebility — 12¢€
Long-term portion of deferred compensation liabi 1,41C 3,03¢
Total other lon-term liabilities $ 2,85¢€ $ 4,351
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(7) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment at December 31, 20@8September 30, 2009 consisted of the followimghpusands):

December 31 September 3C
Category 2008 2009 Estimated Useful Lives
Shorter of life of asset

Leasehold improvemen $ 27,54« $ 38,02¢ lease tern
Building and improvement 61,18: 66,98¢ 20 years
Manufacturing and laboratory equipmt 26,99¢ 31,12¢ 5 years
Computer hardware and softwz 13,08¢ 24,69 3to 5 year:
Office furniture and equipme 4,60z 5,35¢ 5 years
Land 10,05¢ 10,05¢ Not applicable
Constructiorin-progress 27,58¢ 63,45¢ Not applicable

Total property, plant and equipment, gr $ 171,05¢ $ 239,70(
Less: Accumulated depreciati (46,079 (57,607

Total property, plant and equipment, $ 124,97¢ $ 182,09¢

Depreciation for the three and nine months endedeB®er 30, 2009 was $4.3 million and $11.6 milli@spectively, of which $1.2
million and $3.3 million was capitalized into inwery, respectively. Depreciation for the three aime months ended September 30, 2008
was $3.0 million and $8.3 million, respectively vatiich $0.8 million and $2.1 million was capitalizeto inventory, respectively.

Capitalized interest related to the Company‘operty, plant and equipment purchases duriaghttee and nine months ended Septe!
30, 2009 was $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respesy. Capitalized interest related to the Compamyroperty, plant and equipment
purchases during the three and nine months endadrSker 30, 2008 was insignificant.

(8) INVESTMENT IN SUMMIT CORPORATION PLC

In July 2008, the Company entered into an exclusieddwide licensing agreement with Summit Corpimtaiplc (Summit) related to
Summit’s preclinical drug candidate SMT C1100 amitbfv-on molecules (2008 Summit License), which laeeng developed for the
treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. The Compaid Summit $7.1 million for an equity investrhénSummit shares and licensing
rights to SMT C1100. The initial equity investmeepresented the acquisition of approximately 5.HioniSummit shares with a fair value at
the time of acquisition of $5.7 million, based arbfic market quotes. The Company’s investment im@it represents less than 10% of
Summit’s outstanding shares. The $1.4 million paidxcess of the fair value of the shares acquirasl allocated to the license fee using the
residual method and expensed in the third quaft2d@8, in accordance withASC Topic 730Research and DevelopmdASC-730), as the
asset acquired did not have an alternative useetthé terms of the 2008 Summit License, the Compas obligated to make future
development and regulatory milestone paymentsingt&51.0 million contingent on future developmantl regulatory milestones, as well as
tiered royalties based on future net sales. Alhpayts pursuant to the Company’s investment in liaedse from, Summit were denominated
in British pounds.

In March 2009, the Company entered into an asgehpse agreement with Summit. Pursuant to the tefrie asset purchase
agreement, the Company purchased certain of Sumassets which included the rights, title to, aridrest in Summit’s preclinical drug
candidate SMT C1100, thus terminating the 2008 Siithicense. These assets were acquired by issusegared promissory note and
assuming $56,000 in related liabilities. The praoiy note is secured by all of the assets acqfiioad Summit. The value of the assumed
liabilities was expensed in the first quarter 0020in accordance with ASC-730, as asset acquitkdat have an alternative use. Under the
secured promissory note, the Company is obligatedake up to $50.0 million in future developmend asgulatory milestone payments
contingent on achieving certain development andleggry milestones, as well as tiered royaltiesldamn future net sales.

The Company accounts for the Summit shares, whielraded on the London Stock Exchange, as anaflaiforsale investment, wi
changes in the fair value reported as a comporfeataumulated other comprehensive income/lossusika of other-than-temporary
impairment losses, if any. Losses determined tothe-thar-temporary are reported in earnings in the perioghich the impairment occur



As of September 30, 2009, the Company has recadjcizeulative impairment charges of $5.5 million fioe decline in the
investment’s value determined to be other-than-tany. The impairment charges are comprised of §#llion and $1.4 million recognized
in December 2008 and March 2009, respectively. ddtermination that the decline was other-than-teanyds, in part, subjective and
influenced by several factors, including: the léngt time and the extent to which the market vdlad been less than the value on the date of
purchase, Summit’s financial condition and neamtprospects, including any events which may infagetheir operations, and the
Company’s intent and ability to hold the investmfemta period of time sufficient to allow for theticipated recovery in market value.

(9) INVESTMENT IN LA JOLLA PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANY

On January 4, 2009, the Company entered into acloive worldwide (excluding Asia Pacific) licengiagreement with La Jolla
Pharmaceutical Company (La Jolla) to develop amdnercialize Riquent, La Jolla’s investigational glfor lupus nephritis. Riquent was
being evaluated by La Jolla in a Phase Il clinataldy (Phase 11l ASPEN Study). The Company paiddaléa $7.5 million for the license
rights and $7.5 million for 339,104 shares of LHa)e Series B Preferred Stock. The initial equityestment represents the acquisition of the
La Jolla Series B Preferred shares with a faireaiu$6.2 million. The $1.3 million paid in excesfsthe fair value of the shares acquired was
allocated to the license fee using the residuahoteind expensed in the first quarter of 2009¢caoedance with ASC -730, as the license
acquired did not have an alternative future useeRech and development expense related to the Qy'smgreements with La Jolla in the
first quarter of 2009 approximated $8.8 milliondas comprised of the $7.5 million up-front licerfse and the $1.3 million premium paid in
excess of the preferred stock’s fair value.

On February 12, 2009, the results of the firstrimeefficacy analysis for the Phase IIl ASPEN Stwebre announced, and the
Independent Data Monitoring Board determined thatdontinuation of the trial was futile. Based be tesults of this interim efficacy
analysis, the Company and La Jolla decided to thiestudy.

On March 26, 2009, the Company terminated its Baenagreement with La Jolla, triggering the pneférstock’s automatic conversion
feature at a rate of one preferred share to teltres of common stock. Thus, as of the convedata the Company held approximately
10.2 million shares of common stock, or approxinyat®.5% La Jolla’s outstanding common stock. Tleen@any accounted for the
converted La Jolla shares, which were traded on DS Stock

15



Table of Contents

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
September 30, 2009
(Unaudited)

Exchange, as an available-for-sale investment.imhestment was classified as available-for-sal¢h wihanges in the fair value reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive infosse exclusive of other-than-temporary impairnlesses, if any. Losses determined
to be other-than-temporary were reported in eaminghe period in which the impairment occurs.

In March 2009, the Company recognized an impairmbatge of $4.5 million, for the decline in the l@la investment’s value
determined to be other-than-temporary. The deteatioin that the decline was other-than-temporary, wagart, subjective and influenced by
several factors, including: the length of time aéimel extent to which the market value of La Joltadsixmon stock had been less than the value
on the date of purchase, La Jolla’s financial cthodiand near-term prospects, including any eveshish may influence their operations, and
the Company’s intent and ability to hold the inwesht for a period of time sufficient to allow fdret anticipated recovery in market value.
Based on the then current market conditions, Lia'3oturrent financial condition and their businpssspects, the Company determined that
its investment in La Jolla was other-than-tempdrampaired and adjusted the recorded amount ofrthestment to the stock’s market price
on March 31, 2009. In June 2009, the Company $eltid.2 million shares of La Jolla common stoclotigh a series of open market trades
ranging in gross proceeds to the Company of $@B0122 per share. In connection with the saléeflia Jolla common stock, the Company
recognized a loss of $66,000 on the sale of théyemwvestment during the second quarter of 2009.

(10) CONVERTIBLE DEBT

In April 2007, the Company sold approximately $32dhillion of Senior Subordinated Convertible Notkeee 2017. The debt was issued
at face value and bears interest at the rate @b%8per annum, payable semi-annually in cash. Bhbeid convertible, at the option of the
holder, at any time prior to maturity or redemptiorio shares of Company common stock at a cormergiice of approximately $20.36 per
share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstsn€here is not a call provision included andGbenpany is unable to unilaterally redeem
the debt prior to maturity on April 23, 2017. Theripany also must repay the debt if there is a fyiradj change in control or termination of
trading of its common stock.

In connection with the placement of the April 2afEbt, the Company paid approximately $8.5 millioroffering costs, which have
been deferred and are included in other assety. dilecbeing amortized as interest expense ovdif¢hef the debt. The Company recognized
$0.2 million and $0.6 million of amortization exgenin each of the three and nine months ended 18bpte30, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

In March 2006, the Company sold $172.5 million eh®r Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2013.dé{# was issued at face value
and bears interest at the rate of 2.5% per annayalpe semi-annually in cash. The debt is conJertit the option of the holder, at any time
prior to maturity or redemption, into shares of @amy common stock at a conversion price of appratéiy $16.58 per share, subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances. There is matlgrovision included and the Company is unablenilaterally redeem the debt prior to
maturity on March 29, 2013. The Company also megsay the debt if there is a qualifying change intem or termination of trading of its
common stock.

In connection with the placement of the March 2@66t, the Company paid approximately $5.5 millioroffering costs, which have
been deferred and are included in other assety. aieebeing amortized as interest expense ovdif¢hef the debt, and the Company
recognized $0.2 million and $0.6 million of amodatimn expense during each of the three and ningtm@nded September 30, 2008 and
2009, respectively. During the first nine month22608, certain note holders voluntarily exchangedhaignificant number of convertible
notes for shares of the Company’s common stock.

Interest expense for the three months ended Septe3b 2009 was $2.9 million. Interest expensaermnine months ended
September 30, 2009 was $11.4 million and includgglited interest of $2.6 million related to the Camg's acquisition obligation, which
was paid in full during the second quarter of 20@&erest for the three and nine months ended 8dm@e30, 2008 was $4.1 million and $1
million, respectively, and included $1.1 millionca#i3.3 million of imputed interest expense, respebt.

(11) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING STRATEGIES

The Company uses hedging contracts to managesthefrits overall exposure to fluctuations in fgmeicurrency exchange rates. All of
the Company’s designated hedging instruments arsidered to be cash flow hedges.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Company uses forward foreign exchange conttadisdge certain operational exposures resultomg thanges in foreign curren
exchange rates. Such exposures result from porbibits forecasted revenues being denominatedrirecaies other than the U.S. dollar,
primarily the Euro and British Pound.

The Company designates certain of these foreigreay forward contract hedges as hedging instrusnemd enters into some foreign
currency forward contracts that are consideredetedonomic hedges which are not designated asrtethgitruments. Whether designated or
undesignated, these forward contracts protect agtiia reduction in value of forecasted foreigrrenecy cash flows resulting fro



Naglazyme and Aldurazyme revenues and net as$iabdity positions designated in currencies ottiean the U.S. dollar. The fair
values of foreign currency agreements are estimageatescribed in Note 12, taking into consideratiament interest rates and the current
creditworthiness of the counterparties or the Camgpas applicable. Details of the specific instrutsaused by the Company to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations followdve

At September 30, 2009, the Company had 37 foreigrency forward contracts outstanding to purchatsea of 49.8 million Euros
with expiration dates ranging from October 30, 2@@®ugh December 31, 2010. These hedges weresdritdo to protect against the
fluctuations in Euro denominated Naglazyme and Addyme revenues. The Company has formally desigribése contracts as cash flow
hedges, and they are expected to be highly efegtithin the meaning of ASC 815-3Derivatives and Hedging Cash Flow Hedgés
offsetting fluctuations in revenues denominate#umos related to changes in the foreign currenchange rates.

The Company also enters into forward foreign curyesontracts that are not designated as hedgesfmunting purposes. The changes
in fair value of these foreign currency hedgesiackided as a part of selling, general and adnratise expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations. At September 30, 20@9Ctmpany had two outstanding foreign currencyreats to purchase 14.0 million Euros
and 3.7 million British Pounds that were not deaigd as hedges for accounting purposes.

The maximum length of time over which the Compankiedging its exposure to the reduction in valum@fcasted foreign currency
cash flows through foreign currency forward contsas through December 2010. Over the next 12 nspiile Company expects to reclassify
$2.6 million from accumulated other comprehensh@me to earnings as related forecasted revemsartaons occur.
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Prior to the second quarter of 2008, the Compadyndt enter into any derivative transactions witjahlified for hedge accounting.
During the three and nine months ended Septemh&08®, the Company recognized foreign currenays@ation loss of $0.7 million and a
gain of $1.2 million, respectively, from derivatitransactions that qualified for hedge accountimgnpared to the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2008 when the Company recagaif@eign currency transaction gain of $0.3 willin each period.

At December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2009, thedlue carrying amount of the Company’s derivatinstruments was recorded as
follows (in thousands):

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2008 December 31, 2008
Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedging instrum
Foreign currency forward contrac Other currentasse $ 754  Other current liabilitie: $ 1,12¢
Total $ 754 $ 1,12¢
Derivatives not designated as hedging instrum
Foreign currency forward contrac Other current asse  $ 49  Other current liabilitie: $ —
Total $ 49 $ —
Total derivative contract $ 80:c $ 1,12¢
Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
September 30, 2009 September 30, 2009
Balance Sheet Location Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedging instrum
Foreign currency forward contrac Other current asse  $ 1  Other current liabilitie: $ 2,59

Foreign currency forward contrac Other asset — Other long term liabilitie 12¢€
Total $ 1 $ 2,72(
Derivatives not designated as hedging instrum
Foreign currency forward contrac Other currentasse $ — Other current liabilitie: $ 26
Total $ — $ 26
Total derivative contract $ 1 $ 2,74¢

The effect of derivative instruments on the cortgaikd statements of operations for the three amelmonths ended September 30,
2009, was as follows (in thousands):

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

Three Months Endec Nine Months Endec
September 30, 2009 September 30, 200
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instrumi
Net loss recognized in OCI ( $ (1,499 $ (2,42¢)
Net gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated Q@ income (2 (739) 1,21z
Net gain (loss) recognized in income 51 (212)
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instrum
Net loss recognized in income | (496) (1,569

(1) Net change in the fair value of the effective pmrtclassified in other comprehensive income (C

(2) Effective portion classified as product revel

(3) Ineffective portion and amount excluded from effieaess testing classified in selling, general adihinistrative expens
(4) Classified in selling, general and administratixpaense

At December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2009, adatsdwther comprehensive income associated wittigho currency forward
contracts qualifying for hedge accounting treatnveas a loss of $0.2 million and $2.7 million, respeely.



The Company is exposed to counterparty creditarskll of its derivative financial instruments. TBempany has established and
maintained strict counterparty credit guidelined anters into hedges only with financial instita§ahat are investment grade or better to
minimize the Company’s exposure to potential desadlhe Company does not require collateral toledged under these agreements.
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(12) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company measures certain financial assetsaitities at fair value on a recurring basis, irdihg available-for-sale fixed income,
other equity securities and foreign currency déives. The tables below presents the fair valuie$e certain financial assets and liabilities
determined using the following inputs at Decemkir2908 and September 30, 2009 (in thousands).

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2008
Quoted Price in Active Significant
Significant Other Unobservable
Observable Inputs

Markets for Identical

Assets Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:

Money market instruments and overnight deposit: $ 222,901 $ 12,95¢ $ 209,94: $ —
Corporate securities (. 55,17( — 55,17( —
Equity securities (4 3,96t 2,332 1,63 —
Government agency securities 221,89 — 221,89: —
Governmer-backed commercial paper ( 24,37" — 24,37" —
Commercial paper (¢ 33,12« — 33,12« —
Foreign currency derivatives ( 803 — 803 —
Total $ 562,22 $ 15,29 $ 546,93 $ =

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation liability (i $ 1,42¢ $ — $ 1,42¢ $ —
Foreign currency derivatives ( 1,12¢ — 1,12¢ —
Total $ 2,55 $ — $ 2,551 $ =

Fair Value Measurements
at September 30, 2009
Quoted Price in Active Significant
Significant Other Unobservable
Markets for Identical Observable Inputs
Assets Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:

Money market instruments and overnight deposit: $ 191,77 $ 19,68: $ 172,09 $ —
Certificates of deposit (2 37,91¢ — 37,91¢ —
Corporate securities (. 118,45: — 118,45! —
Equity securities (4 1,931 1,52C 411 —
Government agency securities 123,73 — 123,73. —
Commercial paper (¢ 17,967 — 17,967 —
Deferred compensation asset 1,65¢ — 1,65¢ —
Foreign currency derivatives ( 1 — 1 —
Total $ 493,43t $ 21,20: $ 472,23 $ —

Liabilities:
Deferred compensation liability (i $ 3,30¢ $ 1,64 $ 1,65¢ $ —
Foreign currency derivatives ( 2,74¢ — 2,74¢ —
Total $ 6,052 $ 1,64 $ 4,40¢ $ —

(1) These amounts are included in cash and cash egnfgahvestments in the Compi’s consolidated balance she

(2) 51% and 49% are included in si-term and lon-term investments in the Comp¢s consolidated balance sheet, respecti

(3) These amounts are included in short-term imzests and long-term investments in the Companysalidated balance sheet. At
December 31, 2008, all balances were classifieshagterm investments. At September 30, 2009, 71% gdaate securities, and 2C
of government agencies were included in -term investments and the remaining balances aheded in shor-term investments

(4) These amounts are included in short-term imeests and long-term investments in the Companyisalidated balance sheet. At
December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2009, 41%Endr2spectively are included in long-term invesitaend the remaining
balances are included in st-term investments

(5) These amounts are included in other currerdtass the Company’s consolidated balance sherigrocurrency derivatives at
September 30, 2009 include forward foreign exchamgeracts for the Euro. Foreign currency derivegiat December 31, 2008 include



forward foreign exchange contracts for Euros ariidBrPounds
(6) These amounts are included in other -term liabilities on the Compa’s consolidated balance she
(7) These amounts are included in accounts payabla@rded liabilities on the Compé’s consolidated balance she
(8) These amounts are included in other assets ondhgp&ny's consolidated balance she
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(13) REVENUE AND CREDIT CONCENTRATIONS

The Company considers there to be revenue contientrésks for regions where net product revenugseer's 10% of consolidated net
product revenue. The concentration of the Comparmgyenue within the regions below may expose the@amy to a material adverse effect
if sales in the respective regions were to expegaifficulties. The table below summarizes prodesenue concentrations based on patient
location for the three and nine months ended Sdpte30, 2008 and 2009.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2008 2009 2008 2009
Region:
United State: 58% 53% 56% 53%
Europe 24% 25% 26% 25%
Latin America 10% 12% 9% 11%
Rest of World 8% 10% 9% 11%
Total Net Product Revent 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%

As of September 30, 2009, accounts receivableatkat net product sales of Naglazyme and Kuvanfddidrazyme product transfer
and royalty revenues. On a consolidated basis,destomers accounted for 58% and 60% of our netymtarevenues during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2009, respecti®ely consolidated basis, two customers accounteti’® and 51% of the
September 30, 2009 accounts receivable balangeatdgely. The Company does not require collatioah its customers, but performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ fingh condition and requires immediate payment irtage circumstances.

(14) ASCENT TRANSACTION

In 2004, the Company acquired the Orapred prodiuetffom Ascent Pediatrics, a wholly owned subsidaf Medicis Pharmaceutical
Corporation (Medicis). The acquisition was accodritg as a purchase business combination. The agdenansaction agreements entered
into with Medicis following the settlement of a gdige in January 2005 in the Company’s favor, preditbr total acquisition payments of
$169.0 million payable to Medicis in specified amtsuthrough August 2009. In June 2009, the Compamghased all of the outstanding
shares of capital stock of BioMarin Pediatricsféir(nerly known as Ascent Pediatrics, Inc. and MisdRediatrics, Inc.) (Pediatrics) as
required by the original transaction agreement 2904 for $70.6 million in cash. The stock purehess completed substantially in
accordance with the terms of the previously disdioSecurities Purchase Agreement dated May 18, 2004mended on January 12, 2005,
by and among BioMarin, Medicis and Pediatrics.

On July 1, 2009, the Company transferred all ofNlbeth American intellectual property relating tetOrapred product to Sciele
Pharma, Inc., a U.S.-based group company of Shidg@p., the third party who holds a license td seld commercialize the Orapred
product line in North America. The transfer of th&ellectual property was made in accordance withterms of the previously disclosed
License Agreement dated March 15, 2006 betweeftmepany and Scieéle Pharma, Inc. (formerly AlliahaPnaceuticals, Inc.). As a result
of the completion of the transaction with Medi&8,1 million in cash was released from escrow pamsto the sublicense and was
reclassified from restricted cash to cash and egsiivalents by the Company in June 2009.

(15) SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On October 23, 2009, the Company acquired Huxlegrihceuticals, Inc. (Huxley), which has rights faraprietary form of 3,4-
diaminopyridine (3,4-DAP), amifampridine phosphdte,the rare autoimmune disease Lambert Eaton tMgagc Syndrome (LEMS). On
October 22, 2009, the Committee for Medicinal Paiddor Human Use of the European Medicines EvalnatAgency adopted a positive
opinion recommending approval of Huxley’s form afifampridine phosphate for LEMS. If approved by Ex@opean Commission,
amifampridine phosphate will be the first approttatment for LEMS, thereby conferring orphan dpugtection and providing ten years of
market exclusivity in Europe. Huxley licensed tights to 3,4-DAP from EUSA Pharma (EUSA), which vaeveloping the product after
acquiring the rights from the original developessifstance Publique Hopitaux de Paris -HP).



Under the terms of the agreement, the Companyhpaidey’s stockholders $15.0 million upfront and-égjuired to pay an additional
$7.5 million upon final European Commission appt@faamifampridine in LEMS, which the Company exgzein late 2009 or early 2010.
Huxley stockholders are also eligible to receiveai$36.0 million in milestone payments if certaimual sales, cumulative sales and U.S.
development milestones are met. In addition, swfakbdevelopment of amifampridine phosphate fortthatment of multiple sclerosis will

result in milestone payments to EUSA. The Compapeets to account for the transaction as a buscmsbination during the fourth quar
of 2009.
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Item 2. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “foréooking statements” as defined under securiigs! Many of these statements
can be identified by the use of terminology suchbadieves,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “rgd “will,” “projects,” “continues,”
“estimates,” “potential,” “opportunity” and similaxpressions. These forward-looking statementseapund in “Overview,” and other
sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. @ctual results or experience could differ sigifitty from the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contributeese differences include those discussed iskK'Ractors,” in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, which filed with the Securities and Exchange Commis§8#C) on February 27, 2009, as
well as those discussed elsewhere in this Quaraport on Form 10-Q. You should carefully consithait information before you make an
investment decision.

You should not place undue reliance on these stattnwhich speak only as of the date that theyweade. These cautionary
statements should be considered in connectionamyhwritten or oral forward-looking statements tivat may issue in the future. We do not
undertake any obligation to release publicly angsiens to these forward-looking statements aftengletion of the filing of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q to reflect later events orurinstances, or to reflect the occurrence of unauaied events.

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in catijom with our consolidated
financial statements and notes to those statemwitsled elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on FaoyQ.

Overview

We develop and commercialize innovative biopharraticals for serious diseases and medical conditdfesselect product candidates
for diseases and conditions that represent a ggnifunmet medical need, have well-understoodbipbnd provide an opportunity to be
first-to-market or offer a significant benefit ovexisting products. Our product portfolio is consed of three approved products and multiple
investigational product candidates. Approved préslirtclude Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Kuvan.

Naglazyme received marketing approval in the Lh®J4ay 2005, in the E.U. in January 2006, and sulssetly in other countries.
Naglazyme net product revenues for the third quame first nine months of 2008 were $33.3 millaord $96.2 million, respectively, ai
increased to $42.1 million and $124.3 million ie third quarter and first nine months of 2009, essipely.

Aldurazyme, which was developed in collaboratiothwisenzyme Corporation (Genzyme), has been approvedarketing in the U.S.,
E.U., and in other countries. Prior to 2008, wedaleped and commercialized Aldurazyme through a jeémture with Genzyme. Pursuant to
our arrangement with Genzyme, Genzyme sells Aldumazto third parties and we recognize royalty resean net sales by Genzyme. We
recognize a portion of the royalty as product tf@ansevenue when product is released to Genzymealkotligations related to the transfer
have been fulfilled at that point and title to, aiek of loss for the product is transferred to @ene. The product transfer revenue represents
the fixed amount per unit of Aldurazyme that Gengyisrequired to pay us if the product is unsold3dgnzyme. The amount of product
transfer revenue will eventually be deducted frbmdalculated royalties earned when the produsils by Genzyme. Aldurazyme net
product revenues for the third quarter and firaennonths of 2009 were $14.6 million and $53.4iarill respectively, compared to $20.7
million and $58.1 million, in the third quarter aficst nine months of 2008, respectively.

Kuvan was granted marketing approval in the U.8.Enrope in December 2007 and December 2008, riagplgc Kuvan net product
revenues for the third quarter and first nine mermth2009 were $21.7 million and $54.1 million,pestively, compared to $13.8 million and
$31.6 million in the third quarter and first nin@nths of 2008, respectively.

We are developing PEG-PAL, an experimental enzymbstgution therapy for the treatment of phenylketga (PKU), for patients that
do not respond well to Kuvan. In May 2008, we atiéd a Phase | open label clinical trial of PEG-RAPKU patients. In June 2009, we
released the results of the Phase | open labétalitrial of PEG-PAL. The primary objective of shétudy was to assess the safety and
tolerability of single subcutaneous injections &G PAL in subjects with PKU. In September 2009 imitated the Phase Il clinical trial of
PEG-PAL in PKU patients. We are developing GALNSeamyme replacement therapy for the treatment o8 MPA or Morquio Syndrome
Type A. We completed enrollment of an open labeldeh/Il clinical trial of GALNS in July 2009. Wepect the results form this trial in mid
2010. We are conducting preclinical developmergayeral other protein product candidates for germatd other diseases, and a small
molecule for the treatment of Duchenne Musculartiypdy.



Key components of our results of operations forttiiee and nine months ended September 30, 200802&dinclude the following (in
millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2008 2009 2008 2009
Total net product revenu $ 676 $ 784 $185.¢ $231.¢
Collaborative agreement revent 2.4 0.€ 7.4 2.C
Cost of sale: 14.1 15.C 40.¢ 49.2
Research and development expe 26.2 27.C 67.€ 87.7
Selling, general and administrative expe 29.C 28.7 77.¢ 87.¢
Net income (loss 0.8 6.€ 6.3 (5.2
Stocl-based compensation expel 7.4 8.¢ 17.¢ 25.7

See “Results of Operatiorisbelow for a discussion of the detailed componams analysis of the amounts above. Our cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments and lterga investments totaled $491.8 million as of Seytter 30, 2009, compared to $561.4 millior
of December 31, 2008, primarily due to the earlyleiment of our Medicis obligation. Sed iquidity and Capital Resourcédelow for a
further discussion of our liquidity and capital sesces.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial stateménesccordance with accounting principles generatlyepted in the U.S. (GAAP) and
pursuant to the rules and regulations promulgayeithé SEC, we make assumptions, judgments andastnthat can have a significant
impact on our net income (loss) and affect the nteploamounts of certain assets, liabilities, reeeand expenses, and related disclosures. We
base our assumptions, judgments and estimatestoribal experience and various other factorswreabelieve to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ matéyiflom these estimates under different assumptioreonditions. On a regular basis, we
evaluate our assumptions, judgments and estimateslso discuss our critical accounting policied astimates with the Audit Committee
the Board of Directors.

We believe that the assumptions, judgments anthatds involved in the accounting for the impairmafibng-lived assets, revenue
recognition and related reserves, income taxegnitovy, research and development, and stock-basepgensation have the greatest impact
on our consolidated financial statements, so waiden these to be our critical accounting polickdistorically, our assumptions, judgments
and estimates relative to our critical accountintiges have not differed materially from actualuies

There have been no significant changes in ourcatiiccounting policies and estimates during theetfand nine months ended
September 30, 2009 as compared to the criticalumtow policies and estimates disclosedianagement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operaticincluded in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for thear ended December 31, 2008.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2(r) of our accompanying consolidatednfifed statements for a full description of recest@unting pronouncements and our
expectation of their impact, if any, on our resoft®perations and financial condition.

Results of Operations
Net Income (L0ss)

Our net income for the three months ended SepteBhe2009 was $6.6 million and our net loss forrilree months ended
September 30, 2009 was $5.2 million, compared tanceme of $0.8 million and $6.3 million for thieree and nine months ended
September 30, 2008, respectively, with the chapgesarily due to the following (in millions):

Three Months Endec Nine Months Endec
September 30 September 30

Net income for the period ended September 30, : $ 0.8 $ 6.2
Increased Naglazyme gross prt 6.2 21.C
Increased Kuvan gross profit on sé 6.2 17.2
Decreased Aldurazyme gross prt (2.7 (0.7)
Decreased Kuvan license fee rever (3.0 (5.5
Decreased Kuvan collaborative agreement rev 0.3 (0.9
Increased research and development exg (0.8 (20.7)
Decreased (increased) selling, general and admatis expens 0.3 (10.0
Impairment loss on equity investme — (5.9

Gain on the sale of equity investme — 1.€
Increased Orapred royalty rever 0.8 0.¢
Decreased interest incor (2.9 (9.2
Decreased interest exper 1.2 0.¢
Other individually insignificant fluctuatior 0.3 (1.0

Net income (loss) for the period ended Septembg?309 $ 6.€ $ (5.2)

The increase in Naglazyme gross profihmthird quarter and first nine months of 2009@sgared to the same periods in 2008 is
primarily a result of additional patients initiagitherapy outside the U.S. The increase in Kuvasgprofit during the third quarter and first
nine months of 2009 compared to the same perio@8@8 is primarily a result of additional patieirtiating therapy in the U.S. The
decrease in Aldurazyme gross profit in the thirdrger and first nine months of 2009 as compardt@ésame periods in 2008 is primarily
attributed to decreased product transfer revensudtieg from decreased shipments to Genzyme. Theedse in Kuvan license fee revenus
attributed to our fulfillment of all performancelaations relating to the 2005 Umnt license payment of $25.0 million from Merc&rSno ir
December 2008. The increase in selling, generabanunistrative expense is primarily due to incesbfacility and employee related costs
and the continued commercialization of Kuvan inth8. The increase in research and developmennegpa the first nine months of 2009
is primarily attributed to increases in developmexpiense for our GALNS program for the treatmeri&S IV A, the $8.8 million of up-
front costs associated with a product licensed ftandolla Pharmaceutical Company, and other egalyesprograms. See below for additic
information related to the primary net income (Jdsctuations presented above, including detdilsur operating expense fluctuations.
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Net Product Revenues, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The following table shows a comparison of net patdavenues for the three and nine months endegt@bpr 30, 2008 and 2009 (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2008 2009  Change 2008 2009 Change
Naglazyme $33.5 $42.1 $ 8.8 $96.2 $124.: $28.1
Kuvan 13.€  21.7 7.9 31.€ 54.1 22.t
Aldurazyme 20.7 14 (6.1) 58.1 53.4 (4.7)
Total Net Product Revenu $67.€ $78.4 $10.6 $185.¢ $231.t $45.C

Naglazyme net product revenues earned from custobased outside the U.S. during the third quartdrfiast nine months of 2009
were $35.7 million and $107.2 million, respectivelye negative impact of foreign currency excharages on Naglazyme sales denominated
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar was apprately $1.3 million and $5.0 million in the thiguarter and first nine months of 2009,
respectively. Gross profit from Naglazyme salethinthird quarter and first nine months of 2009 wpgroximately $33.1 million and $98.6
million, respectively, representing gross margingo in both periods, compared to gross profit$2#.0 million and $77.6 million, in the
third quarter and first nine months of 2008, resipety, representing gross margins of approxima8i¥o in both periods. The slight decrease
in gross margins during the third quarter and fiifse months of 2009 as compared to the same 02008 is attributed to the negative
foreign currency impact on revenue during the thjndrter of 2009.

Net product revenue for Kuvan during the third ¢eiaand first nine months of 2009 was $21.7 milliord $54.1 million, respectively,
compared to $13.8 million and $31.6 million, redpedy, during the third quarter and first nine ntlog of 2008. Gross profit from Kuvan in
the third quarter and first nine months of 2009 apgroximately $18.2 million and $44.9 million, pestively, representing gross margins of
approximately 84% and 83%, respectively. Duringtttied quarter and first nine months of 2008, gnessit from Kuvan was approximately
$12.0 million and $27.7 million, respectively, repenting gross margins of 88% for each periodp@tlods reflect royalties paid to third
parties of 11%. In accordance with our inventorgoamting policy, we began capitalizing Kuvan invagtproduction costs after U.S.
regulatory approval was obtained in December 26@7a result, the product sold in 2008 had an infignt cost basis. The cost of sales for
Kuvan for the third quarter and first nine montfi@08 is primarily comprised of royalties paidthird parties based on Kuvan net sales. We
expect U.S. gross margins for Kuvan for the forabefuture to be in the lower 80% range as theesed inventory has been mostly
depleted.

Pursuant to our relationship with Genzyme, we ré@89.5% to 50% royalty on worldwide net prodwdes of Aldurazyme. We also
recognize product transfer revenue when produgtiésased to Genzyme and all of our obligations haen fulfilled. Genzyme’'return right:
for Aldurazyme are limited to defective producteTroduct transfer revenue represents the fixeduatrer unit of Aldurazyme that
Genzyme is required to pay us if the product ilthby Genzyme. The amount of product transfer meeewill eventually be deducted from
the calculated royalty rate when the product isl §§1 Genzyme.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2008 2009 Change 2008 2009 Change

Aldurazyme Revenue reported by Genzy $38.2 $40.2 $ 2.1 $113.7 $116.2 $ 2.7
Royalties due from Genzyn 15.1 15.¢ 0.8 44.¢ 46.C 11
Incremental (previously recognized) Aldurazyme prcidransfer revenu 56 (1.3 (6.9 13.2 7.4 (5.9
Total Aldurazyme Net Product Revent $20.7 $14€¢ $(6.1) $581 $534 $(4.9)
Gross Profit $14.¢ $12.1 $(2.7) $39.¢ $39.1 $(0.9)

In January 2008, we transferred existing finishedds onhand to Genzyme under the restructured terms dBitlarin/Genzyme LL(
agreements, resulting in the recognition of sigatfit incremental product transfer revenue durir@B2m the future, to the extent that
Genzyme Aldurazyme inventory quantities on handaiarflat, we expect that our total Aldurazyme ravesnwill approximate the 39.5% to
50% royalties on net product sales by Genzymeheérthird quarter and first nine months of 2009, uklizyme gross margins were 82% and
73%, respectively, which reflects the profit eareadoyalty revenue and net incremental productstier revenue. For the same periods in
2008, Aldurazyme gross margins were 71% and 698pgeaively. The change in gross margins is attedbwid a shift in revenue mix between
royalty revenue and net product transfer revenDagng the third quarter of 2008, the Aldurazymé m@duct revenue mix consisted of 73%
royalty revenues and 27% net product transfer neegncompared to the third quarter of 2009 whemedtienue was comprised solely of
royalty revenues because the product sold by Geaaxoeeded the shipments to Genzyme. In the fitetmonths of 2009, the revenue mix
was 86% royalty revenues and 14% net product teamsf’enues, respectively, compared to the first mionths of 2008, where the revenue
mix was 77% royalty revenues and 23% net prodadcisfer revenues, respectively. Aldurazyme grosgimaare expected to fluctuate
depending on the mix of royalty revenue, from whigdh earn higher gross profit, and product transfeenue, from which we earn a lower
gross profit.

Total cost of sales during the third quarter anst fiine months of 2009, was $15.0 million and $41illion, respectively, compared to
$14.1 million and $40.8 million in the third quartend first nine months of 2008, respectively. T@ease in cost of sales in the third que



of 2009 compared to the third quarter of 2008 tiskatted to an increase in product sales. The aszén cost of sales during the fist r
months of 2009 compared to the same period in Z0@8&ributed to the increase in Naglazyme and Kysaduct sales offset by the decline
in Aldurazyme net product transfer revenues.

Collaborative Agreement Revenues

Collaborative agreement revenues include both sieeevenue and contract research revenue undegmement with Merck Serono,
which was executed in May 2005. License revenueselated to amortization of the $25.0 million wprit license payment received from
Merck Serono and contract research revenues ateddb shared development costs that are incbyres, of which approximately 50% is
reimbursed by Merck Serono. Our performance ohitigatrelated to the
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initial $25.0 million upfront license payment were completed in Decemb88B2Uherefore, periods subsequent to December(®B &ill not
include amortization amounts related to this paytm&s shared development spending increases oeases, contract research revenues will
also change proportionately. Reimbursable reveatesxpected to increase if PEG-PAL successfullgpetes Phase Il clinical trials and
Merck Serono chooses to co-develop it. The relatetls are included in research and developmennegge

Collaborative agreement revenues in the third guand first nine months of 2009 were compriseceohbursable Kuvan development
costs and amounted to $0.6 million and $2.0 milli@spectively. During the third quarter and finste months of 2008 collaborative rever
were comprised of $2.4 million and $7.4 millionashortization relating to the $25.0 million up-frditense payment received from Merck
Serono and reimbursable Kuvan development of $@l®mand $2.9 million, respectively. Kuvan devphoent costs decreased during the
third quarter and first nine months of 2009 as careg to the same periods of 2008 due to reductioKsivan clinical trial activities.

Royalty and License Revenues

Royalty and license revenues for the third quatet first nine months of 2009 totaled $1.8 millamd $3.8 million, respectively,
compared to $2.4 million and $3.9 million in thédhquarter and first nine months of 2008, respetyi Royalty and license revenues for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2008etiroyalty revenues from Orapred product solthkysublicensee of $1.6 million and
$3.2 million, respectively, and 6R-BH4 royalty rewves for related products sold in Japan of $0.Banibnd $0.6 million, respectively.
Royalty and licenses revenues during the thirdtguarf 2008, included royalty revenues from Oragseatiuct sales sold by the sublicensee
of $0.8 million, 6R-BH4 royalty revenues for reldteroducts sold in Japan of $0.1 million and a $tilion milestone payment related to the
Japanese approval of biopten, which contains thre sective ingredient as Kuvan, for the treatmergadfents with PKU.

Research and Development Expense

Our research and development expense includesrpesisdacility and external costs associated withresearch and development of
our product candidates and products. These resaarttdevelopment costs primarily include preclih@ad clinical studies, manufacturing of
our product candidates prior to regulatory approgablity control and assurance and other prodeetldpment expenses, such as regulatory
costs.

Research and development expenses increased bgnihiod for the three months ended September 809Zrom $26.2 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2008. Researateaalbpment expense increased by $20.1 milliotHfemine months ended
September 30, 2009, from $67.6 million for the nimenths ended September 30, 2008. The changedarcdsand development expenses for
the third quarter and first nine months of 200risnarily a result of the following (in millions):

Three Months Endec

September 30, 2009

Nine Months Endec

September 30, 200

Research and development expense for period erejgdrSber 30, 20C $ 26.2 $ 67.€
License payment related to collaboration with LBaJBharmaceutical Compal — 8.8
Increased GALNS for Morquio Syndrome Type A develent expens 1.3 4.7
Increased (decreased) Kuvan development exp (0.7 1.1
Increased sto-based compensation expel 0.9 2.4
Decreased 6-BH4 development expenses for indications other fPiab (2.7 (6.2)
Increased (decreased) P-PAL development expens 0.2 (0.5)
Increased Prodrug development expel 0.3 1.t
Increased (decreased) Duchene Muscular Dystropigram development exper (0.€) 0.¢
Increased (decreased) Naglazyme development exg (0.5 0.1
Increased research and development expenses grdeadlopment stage progra 0.9 0.5
Increase in nc-allocated research and development expenses agdrnathchange 1.1 6.7

Research and development expense for the pericetie®eptember 30, 20! $ 27.C $ 87.7

During the first quarter of 2009, we paia lolla Pharmaceutical Company (La Jolla) an uptfiioense fee for the rights to develop and
commercialize their investigational drug, RiquéntFebruary 2009, the results of the first intedfficacy analysis for the Phase Il ASPEN
Study were announced, and the Independent Datatding Board determined that the continuation ef tthal was futile. Based on the
results of this interim efficacy analysis, the Ca@np and La Jolla decided to stop the study andanck12009, we terminated the license
agreement. As such, there will not be any additideaelopment expense for Riquent. The increas@AbNS development expenses is
primarily attributed to an increased costs reldtetthe Phase /1l clinical trial that was initiatedApril 2009. The decrease in 6R-BH4
development expense for indications other than RKpfimarily due to a decline in pre-clinical steslin 2009. The increase in Kuvan
research and development expense is attributezhpterm clinical activities related to post-appbregulatory commitments. We expect to
continue incurring significant research and develept expense for the foreseeable future due totiemyg clinical activities related to Kuvan
post-approval regulatory commitments and spendmguws GALNS and PEG-PAL programs. The increaseuch2ne Muscular Dystrophy
program development expense is primarily attributeishicreased pre-clinical activities related te thisease. The increase in stock-based
compensation expense is a result of an increasmtbeof options outstanding due to increased numbemployees. The increase in non-
allocated research and development primarily inesudcreases in facilities costs, general reseausts and research and development
personnel



Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Our selling, general and administrative expenskides commercial and administrative personnel, aate facility and external costs
required to support our commercialized productsoduct development programs. These selling, géaed administrative costs include:
corporate facility operating expenses and deplieciatnarketing and sales operations; human ressuficence, legal and support personnel
expenses; and other external corporate costs sucdls@ance, audit and legal fees.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses deetthy $0.3 million and increased by $10.0 milli@n$28.7 million and $87.8 millic
for the three and nine months ended Septembel08®, 2espectively, from $29.0 million and $77.8lioil for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2008, respectively. The cormpeoéthe change for the third quarter and filsermonths of 2009 primarily include 1
following (in millions):

Three Months Endec Nine Months Endec
September 30, September 30,

Selling, general and administrative expense fopmeod ended September 30, 2( $ 29.C $ 77.€
Increased Naglazyme sales and marketing expt 0.4 0.€
Increased (decreased) st-based compensation expel (0.2) 34
Increased Kuvan commercialization exper — 1.6

Net increase (decrease) in corporate overheadtaed administrative expens (0.6) 4.1
Selling, general and administrative expense fopmod ended September 30, 2( $ 28.7 $ 87.¢

The increase in stock-based compensation expen#ieefaine months was the result of an increaseabeu of outstanding stock
options due to an increase in the number of empkyé/e incurred increased Kuvan commercializatigqenses as a result of increased
commercialization efforts in the U.S. and Canad® ificrease in corporate overhead and other adnaitiv® costs during the first nine
months of 2009 is comprised of increased emplogksed costs and increased depreciation expensexpéet selling, general and
administrative expenses to increase in future geras a result of the international expansion afldlayme and the U.S. commercialization
activities for Kuvan.

Amortization of I ntangible Assets

Amortization of acquired intangible assets incluthescurrent amortization expense of the intangilsieets acquired in the Ascent
Pediatrics transaction in May 2004, including thej@®ed developed and core technology. In June,,20802ompleted the purchase of all of
the outstanding shares of capital stock of BioM&@tiatrics Il (formerly known as Ascent Pediatriog. and Medicis Pediatrics, Inc.) a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Medicis Pharmaceutical@ration (Medicis) as required by the originahsaction agreements from 2004 for
$70.6 million. Medicis’ sole substantive asset Wasintellectual property related to the Orapreshdhise. Subsequently, on July 1, 2009, we
transferred the exclusive U.S. intellectual propeidhts to our sublicense, resulting in revisidritee remaining useful life of the Orapred
intangible assets from August 2009 to July 1, 2@8@n the transfer was completed. Amortization espemas insignificant and $2.9 million
for the third quarter and the first nine month2009, respectively, compared to $1.1 million andB$8illion for the third quarter and first
nine months of 2008, respectively. The decreasariartization expense in the third quarter of 200@ared to the third quarter of 2008 is
attributed to the revision of the intangible asseseful life during the second quarter of 2009. Atization expense in the first nine month:
2008 included nine months of expense comparedetgdme period in 2009 which included seven moritesense.

Kuvan license payments, recorded as intangiblesissade to third parties as a result of the FombZrug Administration (FDA)
approval of Kuvan in December 2007 and the Europédedicines Agency (EMEA) approval of Kuvan in Dedsan 2008 are being amortiz
over approximately 7.0 years and 10.0 years, réispdc Amortization of the Kuvan intangible assetsecorded as a component of cost of
sales and is expected to approximate $0.6 millrorually through 2014 and $0.3 million annually tigb 2018. Amortization expense rela
to the Kuvan intangible assets for the three and months ended September 30, 2009 was $0.2 méllidr$0.5 million, respectively,
compared to $0.1 million and $0.2 million for thede and nine months ended September 30, 200&ctesgy. The increase in Kuvan
related amortization expense is attributed to th=EE approval milestone paid to us in December 2008.

Equity in the Loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC

Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC includesr 50% share of the joint venture’s loss forpleeiod. Effective January 2008,
we and Genzyme restructured BioMarin/Genzyme LLgarding the manufacturing, marketing and sale diufdzyme. As of January 1,
2008, BioMarin/Genzyme LLG operations consist primarily of certain reseanct development activities and the intellectuapprty whict
continues to be managed by the joint venture wadtsshared equally by BioMarin and Genzyme.

Equity in the loss of the joint venture remainedenially consistent for the third quarter and fingte months of 2009 was $0.7 million
and $1.8 million for the three and nine months en8eptember 30, 2009, respectively, compared ®&llion and $1.7 million in the same
periods in 2008, respectivel



Interest Income

We invest our cash, short-term and long-term imaests in government and other high credit quakiyusities in order to limit default
and market risk. Interest income decreased to®ilion and $4.1 million for the third quarter afidst nine months of 2009, respectively,
from $3.4 million and $13.2 million for the sameripes in 2008, respectively. The reduced interésdtlg during the third quarter and first
nine months of 2009 were due to lower market irstera&tes and decreased levels of cash and investinvga expect that interest income will
decline during the remainder of 2009 as compar@D@8 due to reduced interest yields and lower aashinvestment balances.

I nterest Expense

We incur interest expense on our convertible debgrest expense also includes imputed interestresgoon the discounted acquisition
obligation for the Ascent Pediatrics transactianetest expense in the third quarter 2009 was 1B2li®n. Interest expense for the first nine
months of 2009 was $11.4 million and included ingpliinterest of $2.6 million. Interest expense mftthird quarter and first nine months of
2008 was $4.1 million and $12.3 million, respedifyand included imputed interest of $1.1 milliomda$3.3 million, respectively. Imputed
interest will not be incurred in future periodsthe Medicis obligation has been paid in full.

Changes in Financial Position
September 30, 2009 Compared to December 31, 2008

From December 31, 2008 to September 30, 2009,aslr, cash equivalents, short-term and long teresimvents decreased by $69.6
million primarily as a result of the early settlembi¢he Medicis obligation and increased capitaleexfitures substantially offet by the recei
of the $30.0 million milestone for Kuvan EMEA appab. Our accounts receivable increased by $14.llomitiue to increased sales of
Naglazyme and Kuvan and receivables from GenzymAlfturazyme product transfer and royalty reven@her current assets decrea
approximately $37.3 million from December 31, 2@80&eptember 30, 2009, primarily as a result ofrtfoeipt of the $30.0 million related to
the EMEA milestone earned from Merck Serono in Deloer 31, 2008 that was paid in January 2009 ancettiassification of $6.2 million |
cash which was restricted from use until June 2008n we paid the remaining acquisition obligatiesuiting from the Ascent Pediatrics
transaction to Medicis from restricted cash to c&xlr net property, plant and equipment increaseapproximately $57.1 million from
December 31, 2008 to September 30, 2009, primasilg result continued expansion and improvemerasrtéacilities during the period. We
expect property, plant and equipment to increagetime periods, due to several ongoing facilitpmwement projects, and we expect
depreciation expense to increase as the assqttaaesl into service.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and Cash Flow

As of September 30, 2009, our combined cash, aasivaents, short-term and long-term investmertizléd $491.8 million, a decrease
of $69.6 million from $561.4 million at December,2D08. During the nine months ended Septembe2(@, we financed our operations
primarily through net product sales and availalalgh¢ cash equivalents, short-term and long-termasiments.

The decrease in our combined balance of cash,erpghalents, short-term and long-term investmenting the first nine months of
2009 was $69.6 million, which was $51.6 million mahan the net decrease in cash, cash equivalehtshart-term investments during the
first nine months of 2008 of $18.0 million. Therpery items contributing to the increase in net aagfiow in 2009 were as follows (in
millions):

Decreased distributions from Genzyme/BioMarin L $(16.7)
Increased Orapred acquisition payments, primaniyearly settlement of the Medicis obligat (68.€)
Increased capital asset purche (22.7)
Investment in La Jolla Pharmaceutical Comp (6.9
Net proceeds from the sale of equity investm 5.C
Milestone payment received for Kuvan EMEA apprc 30.C
Decreased proceeds from ESPP and stock optionigas (17.0
Net increase in cash provided by operating aotigjtincluding net payments for working capital e 26.7

Total increase in net cash outflc $(69.6)

The net decrease in operating spend includes isesda cash receipts from net revenues partialbebby increases in cash payments
made for operating activities, such as researctdamdlopment and sales and marketing efforts,ssigsed in Results of Operatiors
above. Increased capital purchases primarily rétat®ntinued expansion of corporate and manufenxgdacilities at our Novato, California
campus. Net payments for working capital in thetfiine months of 2009 primarily include decreaseéntory build of $6.6 million, which
excluded the inventory distribution from the jougnture and the decreased accounts receivabledfu#20.1 million, and the receipt of the
Merck Serono $30.0 million milestone payment eaiinedecember 2008 related to the EMEA approval of#n.

We purchased all of the outstanding shares of @lagtivck of BioMarin Pediatrics Il (formerly knovas Ascent Pediatrics, Inc. and
Medicis Pediatrics, Inc.) (Pediatrics) a wholly-audnsubsidiary of Medicis Pharmaceutical CorporafMedicis) as required by the original
transaction agreements from 2004 for $70.6 milifonash. Pediatrics’ sole substantial asset wamthbectual property related to the
Orapred franchise. The stock purchase was substgr@ompleted in accordance with the terms ofpiteviously disclosed Securities
Purchase Agreement dated May 18, 2004 and amemd&ahoiary 12, 2005, by and among BioMarin, Medicid Pediatrics. As a result of
the completion of the transaction with Medicis,I$fillion in cash was released from escrow purstmitie sublicense and was reclassified
from restricted cash to cash and cash equivalanisrie 2009.

We expect that our net cash outflow in the remaind@009 related to capital asset purchases mdlidase significantly compared to
2008. The expected increase in capital asset psesharimarily includes: expansion of our manufangufacility, increased spending on
manufacturing and lab equipment, expansion of oyparate campus, including leasehold improvememdstlae continued development of
information technology systems upgrades.

We have historically financed our operations priigdsy the issuance of common stock and converiilalbt and by relying on
equipment and other commercial financing. During itmainder of 2009, and for the foreseeable futmeewill be highly dependent on our
net product revenue to supplement our currentdigguand fund our operations. We may in the futelert to supplement this with further
debt or equity offerings or commercial borrowingrther, depending on market conditions, our finahgosition and performance and other
factors, in the future we may choose to use aqouf our cash or cash equivalents to repurchaseanvertible debt or other securities.

Funding Commitments

We expect to fund our operations with our net poddavenues from Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Kuvashgcash equivalents; short-
term and long-term investments supplemented bygas from equity or debt financings; and loansotiaborative agreements with
corporate partners, each to the extent necessaexXpect our current cash, cash equivalents, aotH&tm and long-term investments will
meet our operating and capital requirements fofdheseeable future based on our current long-tersiness plans and assuming that we are
able to achieve our long-term goals. This expemtatould also change depending on how much we &esgiend on our development
programs and for potential licenses and acquisitmfrcomplementary technologies, products and corep:



Our investment in our product development progrants continued development of our existing commepriaducts has a major
impact on our operating performance. Our reseandhdavelopment expenses for the three and ninehs@mded September 30, 2008 and
2009 and for the period since inception (March 188he portion not allocated to any major progyaepresent the following (in millions):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Since Progran
September 30, September 30,

2008 2009 2008 2009 Inception
Naglazyme $ 27 $ 23 $ 72 $ 74 % 130.(
Kuvan 3.C 2.6 7.7 8.7 98.t
GALNS for Morquio Syndrome Type . 4.C 5.3 8.6 13.2 29.¢
6R-BH4 for indications other than PK 3.6 0.7 11.5 4.3 46.4
PECG-PAL 3.2 34 8.5 8.1 39.2
Not allocated to specific major current proje 7.S 8.€ 21.2 25.€ 212.]

$ 244 $ 232 $ 648 $ 675 % 555.¢

We cannot estimate the cost to complete any opmauct development programs. Additionally, exceptlisclosed under “Overview”
above, we cannot estimate the time to completeoour product development programs or when we exoereceive net cash inflows from
any of our product development programs.
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Please see “ Risk Factors” in our Annual ReporEform 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008chvivas filed with the SEC on
February 27, 2009, for a discussion of the reatiuatswe are unable to estimate such informatiod,iamarticular the following risk factors
included in our Form 10-K “—If we fail to maintanegulatory approval to commercially market and sall drugs, or if approval is delayed,
we will be unable to generate revenue from the slbese products, our potential for generatingjtpe cash flow will be diminished, and
the capital necessary to fund our operations wilintreased;” “—Fo obtain regulatory approval to market our produpteclinical studies al
costly and lengthy preclinical and clinical trigiee required and the results of the studies aal$ tare highly uncertain;” “—If we are unable
to successfully develop manufacturing processesudodrug products to produce sufficient quantitieacceptable costs, we may be unab
meet demand for our products and lose potenti&mes, have reduced margins or be forced to termengrogram;” “—If we fail to compete
successfully with respect to product sales, we bwyinable to generate sufficient sales to recoweerpenses related to the development
product program or to justify continued marketifgagroduct and our revenue could be adverselygtfte” and “—If we do not achieve our
projected development goals in the time frames mv@ance and expect, the commercialization of cadpets may be delayed and the
credibility of our management may be adverselyciffé and, as a result, our stock price may detline.

We may elect to increase our spending above ouergulong-term plans and may be unable to achiewvdomg-term goals. This could
increase our capital requirements, including: castociated with the commercialization of our paiduadditional clinical trials and the
manufacturing of Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Kuvaegfnical studies and clinical trials for our oth@roduct candidates; potential licenses
and other acquisitions of complementary technomgieoducts and companies; general corporate pespaad working capital.

Our future capital requirements will depend on méagtors, including, but not limited to:
. our ability to successfully market and sell Naglaeyand Kuvan

. Genzym('s ability to successfully market and sell Aldurazy

. the progress, timing, scope and results of ourlipieal studies and clinical trial:

. the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatgoyosals and the costs of post-marketing studieshvhiay be required by
regulatory authorities

. the time and cost necessary to develop commera@abfacturing processes, including quality systentsta build or acquire
manufacturing capabilitie!

. the time and cost necessary to respond to techicalagnd market developmen

. any changes made to or new developments in outirexisollaborative, licensing and other commerogdtionships or any new
collaborative, licensing and other commercial iefaghips that we may establish; ¢

. whether our convertible debt is converted to commstoak in the future

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any offalance sheet arrangements that are currently ialadereasonably likely to be material to our ficéal positior
or results of operations.

Borrowings and Contractual Obligations

In April 2007, we sold approximately $324.9 milliof senior subordinated convertible debt due APBiL7. The debt was issued at face
value and bears interest at the rate of 1.875%umeum, payable semi-annually in cash. The deldnsertible, at the option of the holder, at
any time prior to maturity, into shares of our coamstock at a conversion price of approximately.$32@er share, subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances. There is a no call provigiciuded and we are unable to unilaterally redégsrdebt prior to maturity in 2017. We ¢
must repay the debt if there is a qualifying chaimgeontrol or termination of trading of our commstock. In March 2006, we sold
approximately $172.5 million of senior subordinatedhvertible notes due 2013. The debt was issutatatvalue and bears interest at the
of 2.5% per annum, payable seamnually in cash. There is a no call provisionueld and we are unable to unilaterally redeem ¢ jorio!
to maturity in 2013. The debt is convertible, & tiption of the holder, at any time prior to matyrinto shares of our common stock at a
conversion price of approximately $16.58 per shsubject to adjustment in certain circumstancesvél@r, we must repay the debt prior to
maturity if there is a qualifying change in contooltermination of trading of our common stock. @487.1 million of convertible debt will
impact our liquidity due to the semi-annual cagkri@st payments and the scheduled repayments detite

We have contractual and commercial obligations uode debt, operating leases and other obligatielzged to research and
development activities, purchase commitments, §esrand sales royalties with annual minimums. imétion about these obligations as of
September 30, 2009 is presented below (in thou$z



Payments Due by Period

Remainder
2015 and
of 2009 2010 2011201z 2013-2014  Thereafter Total
Convertible debt and related inter $ 3,04¢ $10,40: $20,80: $186,54¢ $340,10: $560,89¢
Operating lease 95& 4,28: 7,44 4,44: 3,201 20,327
Research and development and purchase commiti 10,03¢ 18,87 7,29¢ 3,51( 3,952 42,99
Total $ 14,037 $33,55¢ $35,54( $194,49° $347,25° $624,21!

We are also subject to contingent payments relatedrious development activities totaling approaiaty $110.6 million, which are
due upon achievement of certain regulatory anchéicey milestones, and if they occur before certaites in the future.

26



Table of Contents

ltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our market risks at September 30, 2009 have natgedhsignificantly from those in Item 7A of our Aral Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008, which was fiiddtiwe SEC on February 27, 2009, and Part Il, I8af our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2009 and 30n2009 which were filed with the SEC on May @02 and July 31, 2009, respectively.

ltem 4. Controls and Procedures
(a) Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was carried out, under the supermisioand with the participation of our manageméartluding our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the @ftiveness of our disclosure controls and proced{a® defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded (the Exchange Act)) as of the end of énieg covered by this report.

Based on the evaluation, our Chief Executive Offared our Chief Financial Officer have concludedt thur disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that the infoomaequired to be disclosed by us in the repibras we filed or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and repasitbdh the time periods specified in the SEC’sesibnd forms.

(b) Change in Internal Controls over Financial Repating

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during our most recently contptequarter that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materiallyeaffour internal control over financial reportiag, defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
None.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

The risk factors previously disclosed in Part émtl1A of our Annual Report on Form X0for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2
which was filed with the SEC on February 27, 200%] Part I, Item 1A of our Quarterly Report on faat0-Q for the quarters ended
March 31 and June 30, 2009, which were filed with 8EC on May 1, 2009, and July 31, 2009, respaedgtiave remained substantially
unchanged.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds.
None.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None

Item 5. Other Information.
None.

ltem 6. Exhibits.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exghaict of 1934, as
amended

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Rules 13-14(a)/15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asratad.

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chieinancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section@,3%s adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Tesification accompanies this report and shal] ercept to the extent
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be dekfited for purposes of 8§18 of the Securities Exae Act of 1934, as
amended

* Filed herewitr
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdRaport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

Dated: October 29, 2009 By /sl JErFREYH. C OOPER
Jeffrey H. Cooper,
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(On behalf of the registrant and as principal finarcial officer)
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Exhibit Index

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Enghaict of 1934, as
amended

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Rules 13-14(a)/15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asratad.

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiefnancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section(@,3% adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Testification accompanies this report and shat] ercept to the extent
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be dekfited for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exae Act of 1934, as
amended

* Filed herewitl
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Jean-Jacques Bienaimé, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on ForrQLOf BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over fiiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisiksineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the temi's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: October 29, 20C

/sl JEAN-JACQUES BIENAIME
Jear-Jacques Bienaim
Chief Executive Office
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Jeffrey H. Cooper, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on ForrQLOf BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over fiiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisiksineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the temi's internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: October 29, 20C

/s/ JEFFREY H. COOPER
Jeffrey H. Coope
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on FormQ®@f BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. (the “Companyd)y the quarter ended September 30,
2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Jdarques Bienaimé and Jeffrey H.
Cooper, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §135Mdopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-@xegf 2002, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/  JEAN-JACQUES BIENAIME
Jear-Jacques Bienain
Chief Executive Office

October 29, 200

/s/ JEFFREY H. COOPER

Jeffrey H. Coope
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic

October 29, 200
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